
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

July 2, 2024
AGENDA
10:00 AM

CALL TO ORDER BY THE PRESIDENT

INVOCATION

1. PASTOR SCOTT FORTENBERRY OF SOUL CITY CHURCH, WARD 7

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

PUBLIC HEARING

INTRODUCTIONS

PUBLIC COMMENTS

CONSENT AGENDA

2. RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING COSTS AND PENALTIES FOR A
PARCEL CLEANED PURSUANT TO RESOLUTION ADJUDICATING
THE SAME TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND
WELFARE ON AUGUST 2,2022 LOCATED AT 946 CONGRESS ST.
(KEETON, LUMUMBA)

3. APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 3, 2024 SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL
MEETING MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

4. APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 4 , 2024 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

5. APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 17, 2024 REGULAR ZONING MINUTES.
(S.JORDAN, BANKS)

6. APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 17, 2024 SPECIAL COUNCIL MINUTES.
(S.JORDAN, BANKS)

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES

ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE

7. ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE VILLAGE AT LIVINGSTON PLACE,
PHASE 1 AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN THE FINAL
PLAT. (WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

8. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
REQUIRING SECURITY PERSONNEL AT BUSINESSES ASSOCIATED



WITH VIOLENCE DURING HOURS OF OPERATION. (STOKES)

REGULAR AGENDA

9. ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
PROVIDING FOR THE ELECTION OF COUNCIL PRESIDENT AND
VICE PRESIDENT. (JACKSON CITY COUNCIL)

10. CLAIMS (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
11. PAYROLL (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
12. ORDER ADOPTING THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE’S UNIFORM

ASSESSMENT SCHEDULE FOR THE ASSESSMENT, CALCULATION,
AND COLLECTION OF AD VALOREM TAXES ON MOTOR VEHICLES
FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON AND THE JACKSON MUNICIPAL
SEPARATE SCHOOL DISTRICT FOR THE YEAR 2024-2025, AS
CONSIDERED, EXAMINED, CORRECTED, AND EQUALIZED,
SUBJECT TO THE RIGHT OF TAXPAYERS TO BE HEARD ON ALL
OBJECTIONS MADE BY THEM IN WRITING AT A MEETING OF THE
COUNCIL COMMENCING JULY 16, 2024, AND SUBJECT TO
CHANGES AND CORRECTIONS BY THE COUNCIL AS AUTHORIZED
BY LAW (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)

13. ORDER APPROVING PAYMENT OF INVOICES FOR SERVICES
RECEIVED BY THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT FROM LIVE
OAK PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATES.  (WADE, LUMUMBA)

14. ORDER REVISING THE 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET FOR THE
JACKSON FIRE DEPARTMENT (OWENS, LUMUMBA)

15. ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 MUNICIPAL
BUDGET OF THE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY.
(REID, LUMUMBA)

16. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO PROCURE FIVE HUNDRED (500)
MICROSOFT OFFICE 365 EXCHANGE LICENSE FROM METRIX
SOLUTIONS (REID, LUMUMBA)

17. ORDER APPROVING THE PROCUREMENT OF FIVE (5) MICROSOFT
365 GS SOFTWARE LICENSES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO
EXECUTE THE DOCUMENT FURNISHED BY METRIX SOLUTIONS
AT AN ANNUAL COST OF QUOTE $3,420.00. (REID, LUMUMBA)

18. ORDER REVISING THE 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET FOR THE
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN AND CULTURAL SERVICES. (SCOTT,
LUMUMBA)

19. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE ELEVEN (11)
COMMERCIAL SERVICES AGREEMENTS WITH INTEGRATED
PEST CONTROL MAINTENANCE TO PROVIDE PEST CONTROL
SERVICES AT ELEVEN (11) FACILITIES MANAGED BY THE
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN AND CULTURAL SERVICES FOR THE
2024-2025 FISCAL YEAR AND APPROVING PAYMENT IN THE
AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED AND TWENTY-
FOUR DOLLARS ($5,424.00). (SCOTT, LUMUMBA)

20. ORDER REVISING THE 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET FOR THE



DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION. (MUHAMMAD,
LUMUMBA) 

21. ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ACCEPT
PROFESSIONAL FITNESS INSTRUCTION SERVICES FROM
BRIDGETT BROOKS AND NATASHA DONALD AND AUTHORIZING
PAYMENT FOR SAME. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

22. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE PROFESSIONAL DJ
ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES TO SHAKE’UM UP SOUNDS FOR
PROFESSIONAL ENTERTAINMENT SERVICES THAT WILL BE
PERFORMED AT THE ANNUAL FIREWORKS EXTRAVAGANZA
BEING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, JULY 3, 2024, AT SMITH WILLS
STADIUM. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

23. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH ARTISAN
PYROTECHNICS INC TO PRODUCE A FIREWORKS DISPLAY FOR
THE CITY’S FOURTH OF JULY CELEBRATION, BEING HELD ON
WEDNESDAY, JULY 3, 2024, AT SMITH-WILLS STADIUM, AND
APPROVING PAYMENT FOR SAID FIREWORKS DISPLAY.
(MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

24. ORDER REQUESTING THE ADDITION OF FIVE THOUSAND
TWENTY-SEVEN DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS ($5,027.50) TO
CONTRACT NUMBER 2024256 SO THAT ROBERTSON PRODUCE OF
MISSISSIPPI, LLC CAN CONTINUE PROVIDING TIMELY
DELIVERIES OF FRESH ANIMAL FEED PRODUCE TO THE
JACKSON ZOO FOR THE REMAINDER OF THE 2023-2024 FISCAL
YEAR. (MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

25. ORDER REQUESTING RATIFICATION OF PAST PROFESSIONAL
CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE SERVICES PERFORMED BY
FACILITY SERVICES AND REMODELING, LLC (FSR) AT VARIOUS
CITY OWNED FACILITIES AND APPROVING PAYMENT FOR SAME
AND REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE PROFESSIONAL
CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED
BY FSR NOT TO EXCEED FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000.00).
(MUHAMMAD, LUMUMBA)

26. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, SANDRA R. LIDDELL, AND
BENJAMIN WIGGINS DBA BEN WIGGINS REMODELING FOR THE
USE OF HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT FUNDS TO
IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES UNDER THE
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT’S HEALTHY
HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT PROGRAM. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

27. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, DELORES FINCH, AND MULTI-
CON, INC FOR THE USE OF HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION
GRANT FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES
UNDER THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT’S
HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT PROGRAM. (KEETON,
LUMUMBA)



28. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, CARL E FRAZIER, FRANCES A
FRAZIER AND BENJAMIN WIGGINS REMODELING FOR THE USE
OF HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT FUNDS TO
IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES UNDER THE
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT’S HEALTHY
HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT PROGRAM. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

29. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, BOBBIE J. CHAMBERS, AND
MULTI-CON, INC FOR THE USE OF HEALTHY HOMES
PRODUCTION GRANT FUNDS TO IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR
ACTIVITIES UNDER THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT’S HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT
PROGRAM. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

30. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, JAMES MAYES, AND
BENJAMIN WIGGINS DBA BEN WIGGINS REMODELING FOR THE
USE OF HEALTHY HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT FUNDS TO
IMPLEMENT HOUSING REPAIR ACTIVITIES UNDER THE
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT’S HEALTHY
HOMES PRODUCTION GRANT PROGRAM. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

31. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE COMMUNITY
FOUNDATION FOR MISSISSIPPI TO SERVE AS THE FISCAL AGENT
TO THE NATIONAL FOLK FESTIVAL IN JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN
THE YEARS 2025-2027. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

32. ORDER RATIFYING THE SUBMISSION OF AN APPLICATION TO
THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION MULTI-
M O D A L TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FOR
FUNDING IN THE AMOUNT OF $480,000.00 FOR THE SUPPORT OF
JTRAN OPERATIONS. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

33. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPLY TO THE UNITED
STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, FEDERAL
TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION FOR THE CONGRESSIONAL
APPORTIONMENT UNDER SECTION 5307 OF TITLE 49 OF THE
UNITED STATES CODE, URBANIZED AREA GRANT FOR TRANSIT
CAPITAL, OPERATING ASSISTANCE, AND TRANSPORTATION-
RELATED PLANNING, IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,568,203.00 AND FOR
THE CONGRESSIONAL APPORTIONMENT UNDER SECTION 5339
OF TITLE 49 OF THE UNITED STATE CODE, BUS AND BUS
FACILITIES FORMULA PROGRAM, IN THE AMOUNT OF
$279,633.00. (KEETON, LUMUMBA)

34. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENTAL
AGREEMENT NO. 5 AND RELATED DOCUMENTS TO THE
AGREEMENT WITH CONNETICS TRANSPORTATION GROUP TO
FINALIZE, IMPLEMENT AND EVALUATE THE NEW BUS NETWORK
PLAN FOR THE JACKSON PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM



(JTRAN). (KEETON, LUMUMBA) 
35. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND VARIOUS
ORGANIZATIONS FOR THE USE OF 2022 COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FUNDS TOTALING
$212,611.00 TO IMPLEMENT VARIOUS PUBLIC SERVICE ACTIVITIES
IN THE JACKSON METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA (MSA).
(KEETON, LUMUMBA)

36. ORDER AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE CONTRACT
WITH CDFL ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS, A PROFESSIONAL
ASSOCIATION (”CDFL”) TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR
RENOVATION OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PUBLIC SAFETY
COMMUNICATIONS AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS BUILDING.
(WRIGHT, LUMUMBA)

37. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
WITH CANIZARO CAWTHON DAVIS FOR ARCHITECTURAL AND
ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR RENOVATION OF THE OLD FIRE
STATION BUILDING, 201 PRESIDENT STREET. (WRIGHT,
LUMUMBA)

38. ORDER AUTHORIZING SETTLEMENT WITH PARTRIDGE-SIBLEY
INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, INC., CHARLES CARROLL PARTRIDGE AS
EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF D. RICHARD PARTRIDGE,
DECEASED, JUSTIN MAHFOUZ, AND LOUIE GARRETT IN THE
MATTER OF CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI V. GOLD COAST
COMMODITIES, INC., ET AL; CIVIL ACTION NO.: 21-CV-00398-EFP.
(D.MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

39. ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $15,000.00 TO ROBERT
CHAMBERS FOR FULL AND COMPLETE SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS
AND NO ADMISSION OF LIABILITY. (D.MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

40. ORDER OF THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING
PAYMENT TO MARY AND PERCY JACKSON IN THE AMOUNT OF
$10,000.00 FOR DAMAGE TO THEIR AUTOMOBILE. (STOKES)

DISCUSSION

41. DISCUSSION: VIRDEN ADDITION (STOKES)
42. DISCUSSION: CHASTAIN AVE. (STOKES)
43. DISCUSSION: RENT PAYMENTS ON SMITH WILLS STADIUM

(FOOTE)
44. DISCUSSION: DEMOLITION OF HOTEL O (FOOTE)
45. DISCUSSION: REDISTRICTING (LINDSAY)
46. DISCUSSION: GRAND GULF FUNDING (HARTLEY)
47. DISCUSSION: PROPERTY LIENS FOR CITY CLEAN-UP (HARTLEY)
48. DISCUSSION: LITIGATION (D.MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

PRESENTATION



PROCLAMATION

RESOLUTIONS

REPORT FROM MEMBERS, MAYOR, DEPARTMENT DIRECTORS

49. MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED
ACCORDING TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE
ANNOTATED OF 1972.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA ITEMS IN COMMITTEE



















SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                     MONDAY, JUNE 3, 2024 10:00 A.M.                        333 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 
by the Clerk of Council at 10:00 a.m. Monday, June 3, 2024 in the Clerk of Council’s Office, 
electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the public bulletin 
board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Discussion: Redistricting. The meeting was convened at Central 
Mississippi Planning and Development District (CMPDD) located at 1020 Centre Point Boulevard 
Pearl, MS at 10: 00 a.m. on June 3, 2024 being the first Monday of said month, when and where 
the following things were had and done to wit: 
  

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 
Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth 
Stokes, Ward 3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi 
Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer; 
Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council; Victor Allen, Chief Deputy 
Clerk of Council and Sheridan Carr, Special Assistant to the City Attorney.  

 
Absent:    None. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

  
The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

DISCUSSION:  REDISTRICTING: President Banks recognized Gray Ouzts, 
CMPDD Principal Planner spoke in regards to redistricting for Jackson based on 2020 
Census data. Council Member Stokes raised concerns about federal mandate for the 
splitting of the wards in the City of Jackson. The Jackson City Council members continued 
with discussions which allowed CMPDD to draw the redistricting lines for all seven (7) 
wards. Option 1 was eliminated and an additional 2 possibilities were suggested.  These 
selections along with the 2 previous options were discussed giving a total of 4 possible 
choices to be voted on by an ordinance at a later date.  Also, a Public Hearing was suggested 
by council, but not required according to CMPDD.     

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the Special Council Meeting at 6:00 p.m. on June 4, 2024.  At 2:05 p.m., the Council 
stood adjourned.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 
  
             _______________________________        
                                                                        CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           334 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was convened at New Hope Baptist Church at 6:00 p.m. on June 4, 2024, being the 
first Tuesday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  
 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 
3; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 
7. Directors: Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of 
Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin, 
City Attorney. 

 
 Absent:           None.  
    
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
The invocation was offered by Deacon Robert Patterson. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Dr. Jerry Young who offered a greeting.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The following announcements were provided to open the meeting: 
 
• Vice President Lee announced the following: 

 Opened the meeting in Memory of Crystal Welch.  
 Special recognition to Dr. Jerry Young for all the City Council to use the church 

for the meeting. 
 Offered a welcome to Ward 2. 

  
 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
The following individuals provided public comments during the meeting: 
 

• Thea Faulkner expressed concerns regarding the amount of the water availability charge 
of water bills. 

• Lloyd Goodloe expressed concerns regarding a sewer cave-in on Hallmark Drive.  
• Dr. Louis Liddell expressed concerns regarding the conditions of City-owned 

cemeteries. 
 

     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
President Banks requested that Discussion Item No. 46 be moved forward on the Agenda. 
Hearing no objections, the following was discussed: 
 
There came on for Discussion Item No. 46: 

DISCUSSION: CEMETERIES: President Banks recognized Council Member 
Stokes who expressed concerns regarding the conditions of City owned cemeteries and 
the need for regular steady maintenance crews to address those needs. President Banks 
recognized Gladys Stewart and James Hopkins who provided more details on the 
condition of City owned cemeteries. President Banks recognized Lakesha Weathers, 
Solid Waste Manager, who stated the City was experiencing a manpower problem but 
was looking to hire a contractor to help address the problem and provided contact 
numbers.  

     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           335 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MAY 7, 2024 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING       
MINUTES.  
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MAY 20, 2024 REGULAR ZONING COUNCIL 
MEETING MINUTES.  
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
President Banks requested that Discussion Item No. 47 be moved forward on the Agenda. 
Hearing no objections, the following was discussed: 
 
DISCUSSION: MAYOR/COUNCIL TRAVEL: President Banks recognized Council 
Member Stokes, who requested information on the Mayor’s and City Council Member’s travel. 
President Banks recognized Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor who stated a memo would be 
provided.   

                                   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 30324 to 30376 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 79 TO 102 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 
CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,516,674.90 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 30324 to 30376 appearing at pages 79 

to 102, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 
$2,516,674.90 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 
immediate payment thereof. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
 
                                                                                                       TO 
                                                                                   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
         FROM:                                                                               FUND 

GENERAL FUND   912,685.71 
SEIZURE & FORF PROP-STATE  4,995.80 
TECHNOLOGY FUND  20,729.00 
PARKS & RECR. FUND  70,546.27 
BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  11,364.06 
LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  77,572.07 
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  21,620.09 
WATER/SEWER REVENUE FUND   63.00 
WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  103.85 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  102,681.72 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  14,837.50 
HOME PROGRAM FUND  379,293.03 
H O P W A GRANT – DEPT. OF HUD  81,827.12 
1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  12,519.74 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           336 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  11,292.50 
FONDREN BUSINESS IMPROV FUND    2,408.34 
RESURFACING – REPAIRS & REPL.FD   4,376.76 
HAIL DAMAGE MARCH 2013  303,841.35 
PEG ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND   136.31 
CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   25,000.00 
COVID – 19 RESPONSE FUND   85,196.96 
MODERNIZATION TAX   156,328.28 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  6,833.47 
LIBRARY FUND   162,250.66 
DFA-SB2971-PETE BROWN GOLF   42,100.00 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM   732.20 
MDOT-CMPDD PROJECTS    5,339.11 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,516,674.90 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Sharon Thames, Deputy Director of Administration, who 
recommended an amendment adding a payment to Fordice Construction in the amount of 
$27,828.74.                                       _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

     
Vice President Lee moved; seconded by Council Member Foote to amend said order to reflect the 
changes as stated by Sharon Thames, Deputy Director of Administration. The motion prevailed by 
the following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.   
Nays – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Terry Williamson, Terry Williamson, Legal Counsel and Sondra 
Moncure, Special Assistant to the City Attorney who provided an overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Sharon Thames, Deputy Director of Administration, who 
provided a brief overview of larger claims at the request of President Banks.  

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said Order as amended: 
 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 30324 to 30376 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 79 TO 102 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 
CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,544,503.64 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 30324 to 30376 appearing at pages 79 to 102, 
inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $2,516,674.90 
are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the immediate 
payment thereof. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 
necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
 
                                                                                                       TO 
                                                                                   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
         FROM:                                                                               FUND 
GENERAL FUND   912,685.71 
SEIZURE & FORF PROP-STATE  4,995.80 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           337 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

TECHNOLOGY FUND  20,729.00 
PARKS & RECR. FUND  70,546.27 
BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  11,364.06 
LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  77,572.07 
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  21,620.09 
WATER/SEWER REVENUE FUND   63.00 
WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  103.85 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  102,681.72 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  14,837.50 
HOME PROGRAM FUND  379,293.03 
H O P W A GRANT – DEPT. OF HUD  81,827.12 
1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  12,519.74 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  11,292.50 
FONDREN BUSINESS IMPROV FUND    2,408.34 
RESURFACING – REPAIRS & REPL.FD   4,376.76 
HAIL DAMAGE MARCH 2013  303,841.35 
PEG ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND   136.31 
CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   25,000.00 
COVID – 19 RESPONSE FUND   85,196.96 
MODERNIZATION TAX   156,328.28 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  6,833.47 
LIBRARY FUND   162,250.66 
DFA-SB2971-PETE BROWN GOLF   42,100.00 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM   732.20 
MDOT-CMPDD PROJECTS    5,339.11 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,544,503.64 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.   
Nays – Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 
                    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 
 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 30324 TO 30376 AND MAKING 
 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 30324 to 30376 
inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $93,720.36 
plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 
municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 
 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 
fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 
payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 
         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     
                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 
GENERAL FUND  2,615,594.57 
PARKS & RECR FUND  87,705.78 
LANDFILL FUND  22,392.13 
SENIOR AIDES  3,440.22 
WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  64,156.56 
PAYROLL  $93,720.36  
HOUSING COMM DEV  5,125.23 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,972.38 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  14,161.26 
PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,499.62 
2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           338 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  25,414.92 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 
COMM 

 7,745.57 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,864,613.75 
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MGT OF AMERICA 
CONSULTING, LLC TO PREPARE A COST ALLOCATION PLAN TO 
DETERMINE AN INDIRECT COST RATE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023, FISCAL 
YEAR 2024, AND FISCAL YEAR 2025.  

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Administration, through the Finance Division, seeks 

professional services to prepare a cost allocation plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson receives and administers various grant funds that allow 
the City to charge indirect costs provided that the City has an indirect cost allocation plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Administration received a proposal from MGT of America 
Consulting, LLC, (“MGT)” with offices located at 4320 West Kennedy Boulevard, Tampa, FL 
33609, to perform an indirect cost rate proposal based on the City’s audited financial records for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, to arrive at an indirect cost rate for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2023; to perform an indirect cost rate proposal based on the City’s audited financial 
records for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, to arrive at an indirect cost rate for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2024; to perform an indirect cost rate proposal based on the City’s 
audited financial records for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, to arrive at an indirect cost 
rate for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, each indirect cost rate proposal will identify all expenditures that are 
appropriately allocated to or among City of Jackson departments, funds, programs, activities, 
and/or fees charged by City of Jackson services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the term of the agreement begins on May 1, 2024 and terminates upon project 
completion, which is expected to be December 31, 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, MGT proposes a price of eighteen thousand US dollars ($18,000) for the 
services listed above. This is an all-inclusive fee for professional services, and six thousand US 
dollar ($6,000) will be billed after completion and acceptance by the City of each of the three years 
of indirect cost rate proposal calculations; and 
 

WHEREAS, all correct invoices submitted by MGT to the City shall be due and payable 
upon receipt and inspection of the services within thirty (30) days but no later than forty-five (45) 
days. If the City disputes an invoice or portion thereof in good faith, then City shall pay any 
undisputed portion and provide MGT with written notice of the dispute, in reasonable detail, and 
the Parties shall promptly meet to resolve such dispute. MGT reserves the right to impose an 
interest charge equal to the lesser of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month or the maximum 
allowable by law for any invoice outstanding for more than forty-five (45) days. MGT may stop 
work after sixty (60) days of the City’s non-payment of undisputed invoiced amounts; and 
 

WHEREAS, each party shall have the right to terminate the agreement by giving thirty 
(30) days prior written notice to the other party; and 
 

WHEREAS, a contract for professional services is not applicable to the public purchasing 
statutes and is exempted from the competitive bidding process; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           339 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, a copy of the proposed agreement is attached and made part of the minutes. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED, the Mayor is authorized to execute a consulting 
agreement with MGT of America Consulting, LLC to perform a cost allocation plan to determine 
an indirect cost rate for the fiscal year 2023, the fiscal year 2024, fiscal year 2025 in an amount 
not to exceed eighteen thousand dollars ($18,000) beginning May 1, 2024 and terminates upon 
project completion, which is expected to be December 31, 2025. 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           340 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           341 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           342 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – Banks. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE JACKSON MEDICAL MALL 
FOUNDATION FOR USE OF ITS FACILITY TO HOST THE CITY OF 
JACKSON JOB AND CAREER FAIR EXPO ON JUNE 6, 2024.  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson will host a Job and Career Fair Expo on June 6, 2024; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the job fair is for citizens interested in securing employment with the City of 

Jackson; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human Resources has determined that the Jackson 

Medical Mall Foundation has suitable space for the City of Jackson Job and Career Fair Expo; and 
 
WHEREAS, Jackson Medical Mall Foundation is amenable to allowing the use of its 

facility for the Job and Career Fair Expo at a nominal cost to the City of Jackson; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation has agreed to allow the City of Jackson 

to utilize the common area and community meeting room; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation will charge the City of Jackson a total 

of $300.00 for the use of the space; and 
 
WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by authorizing 

payment to the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation for use of its common area and community 
meeting room; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           343 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, DETERMINED that the Department of Human Resources is 
authorized to pay the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation for the City of Jackson Job and Career 
Fair Expo on June 6, 2024. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Department of Human Resources is authorized to 
pay the sum of $300.00 to the Jackson Medical Mall for the use of its facility for the City of Jackson 
Job and Career Fair Expo on June 6, 2024. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Toya Martin, Director of Human Resources, who provided a 
brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE SOCIETY FOR HUMAN 
RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (SHRM); PUBLIC SECTOR HUMAN 
RESOURCE ASSOCIATION (PSHRA); AND MISSISSIPPI ASSOCIATION 
OF PERSONNEL ADMINISTRATORS (MAPA) FOR REGISTRATION FEES 
TO ATTEND A SEMINAR, CONFERENCE, WORKSHOP, CERTIFICATION 
COURSE AND PROFESSIONAL PUBLICATION FEES FOR ALL 
EMPLOYEES IN THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES.  

 
WHEREAS, the Society of Human Resource Management is a national organization for 

Human Resource professionals whose mission is to empower people and workplaces by advancing 
HR practices and by maximizing human potential; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Society of Human Resource Management (SHRM) is a member-driven 
catalyst for creating better workplaces where people and businesses thrive together. As the trusted 
authority on all things work, SHRM is the foremost expert, researcher, advocate, and thought 
leader on issues and innovations impacting today’s evolving workplaces.  With nearly 340,000 
members in 180 countries, SHRM touches the lives of more than 362 million workers and their 
families globally; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Public Sector Human Resources Association (PSHRA) is the leading 
member community connecting public sector HR professionals with the insights, education, and 
expertise to realize their potential and position them for future success; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Public Sector HR Association (PSHRA) is a recognized leader in the 
delivery of innovative solutions and practical resources for all levels of public sector HR 
professionals.  PSHRA’s mission is to empower public sector HR professionals to create better 
places to work for those who serve the public good; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi Association of Personnel Administrators (MAPA) is a 
professional association established in 1981 and incorporated in 1987. MAPA serves to advance 
the knowledge of personnel administration as an art or science; to disseminate to all members 
regarding personnel administration; to provide opportunities for education and to serve as a forum 
for the exchange of ideas among members; and 
 

WHEREAS, a municipality may pay professional association dues, registration fees for 
attending seminars, conferences, workshops, certification courses and professional publication 
fees for individuals if the public entity determines that the professional association dues, 
registration fees for attending seminars, conferences, workshops, certification courses or 
professional publication fees are reasonable and necessary to the performance of the employee's 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           344 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

duties and accrues to the benefit of the municipality and the benefit to the employee is merely 
incidental; 
 

WHEREAS, the Society of Human Resource Management (SHRM); Public Sector 
Human Resources Association (PSHRA); and Mississippi Association of Personnel 
Administrators (MAPA) are all advanced organizations providing continuing education programs 
that prepare participants to perform complex human resource duties; 
 

WHEREAS, the organizations have rigorous educational and professional contribution 
components; and 
 

WHEREAS, membership in the cited organizations and participation in the conference, 
workshops, and courses offered by employees of the Department of Human Resources is 
reasonable and necessary for the effective performance of their duties and is of substantial benefit 
to the municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, any benefit to the employee arising out of membership in the organization 
and participating in the workshops and course offerings is incidental. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that subject to the budget of the Department of Human 
Resources, the Director of the Department of Human Resources many expend monies and pay the 
Society of Human Resource Management (SHRM); Public Sector Human Resources Association 
(PSHRA) and Mississippi Association of Personnel Administrators (MAPA) for professional dues, 
professional publication fees, and registration fees for workshop attendance and course 
participation for employees within the Department of Human Resource. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Toya Martin, Director of Human Resources, who provided a 
brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER RESCINDING THE FEBRUARY 23, 2016, RESOLUTION OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI ADOPTING A CITYWIDE 
RETENTION SCHEDULE FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO ADHERE TO THE 
MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF ARCHIVES AND HISTORY’S (“MDAH”) 
RETENTION SCHEDULE FOR MUNICIPALITIES, AS AMENDED FROM 
TIME TO TIME.  
 

WHEREAS, on February 23, 2016, the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi, passed a 
Resolution adopting the State of Mississippi Records Retention Guidelines; and 
 

WHEREAS, the resolution adopted the retention guidelines as set forth by MDAH at that 
time and did not include any language that the City will adopt future changes to the retention 
schedule as made by MDAH; and 
 

WHEREAS, to adopt the general records retention schedule for municipalities, as it may 
change from time to time, the Municipal Clerk recommends that the governing authorities for the 
City adopt an Order authorizing and mandating that all City departments adhere to the MDAH 
Records Retention Schedules for Municipalities, including as it is amended from time to time; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           345 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Archives and History, Local Government Records Office 
issue the general records retention schedules, as found in Section 39-5-9, Mississippi Code of 
1972, Annotated (MCA), as amended; and 
 

WHEREAS, the retention period listed in the general schedules for each records series is 
the minimum time necessary to retain the records. There may be conditions or factors in the City 
that require retention of a particular record series for a more extended period than is required by 
the general records schedule, and, in such cases, the City may continue retention of the records 
series as needed. In no case, however, may records be destroyed sooner than the scheduled 
retention period; and 
 

WHEREAS, the adoption of the same is in the best interests of the City of Jackson, in 
order to facilitate the orderly and efficient transfer, retention, and destruction of its records. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City of Jackson, Mississippi, hereby adopts 
the State of Mississippi’s “Records Retention Schedules for Municipalities: General Schedules” 
as the citywide records retention schedule, including any future amendments that may be made to 
the Retention Schedule; and 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED and reflected in the minutes that the City of Jackson will 
adhere to and automatically adopt all retention schedules issued for municipalities in the future by 
the Local Government Records Committee. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
RESOLUTION APPOINTING MISSISSIPPI MUNICIPAL LEAGUE 2024 
VOTING DELEGATES FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON.  

 
WHEREAS, the Mississippi Municipal League amended the bylaws of the association to 

provide for a ballot election, to be conducted by the officers of the Mississippi Municipal Clerks 
and Collectors Association, to be held each year at the summer convention, to elect a Second Vice 
President from the Southern District; and 

WHEREAS, the amended bylaws require the governing authority board (Mayor, 
Alderman, City Council, City Commission) to designate in its minutes the voting delegate and one 
alternate to cast the vote for each member municipality. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

In accordance with the bylaws of the Mississippi Municipal League, the voting delegate(s) for the 
2024 Mississippi Municipal League election to be held at the annual convention on June 25th, 2024 
as follows: 

Voting Delegate:       ______________   
 
First Alternate:          ______________    
 
            That public interest and necessity requiring same, this Resolution shall become effective 
upon passage. 
 
The above and foregoing Resolution, after having been first introduced to writing, was introduced 
by_________________, seconded by_________________, and was adopted by the following 
vote, to wit: 
 
Yeas: 
Nays: 
Absent: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           346 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

            The President thereby declared the motion carried and the Resolution adopted, this the 
(____day of June 2024). 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 

            _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Council Member Stokes who moved, and Council Member 
Hartley seconded, to add Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba as the Voting Delegate. The motion 
prevailed by the following votes: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.     

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Council Member Stokes who moved, and Council Member 
Hartley seconded, to add  Vice President Lee as the First Alternate. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.     

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said Resolution, as amended: 
 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING MISSISSIPPI MUNICIPAL LEAGUE 2023 
VOTING DELEGATES FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON. 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi Municipal League amended the bylaws of the association to 
provide for a ballot election, to be conducted by the officers of the Mississippi Municipal Clerks 
and Collectors Association, to be held each year at the summer convention, to elect a Second Vice 
President from the Southern District; and 

WHEREAS, the amended bylaws require the governing authority board (Mayor, 
Alderman, City Council, City Commission) to designate in its minutes the voting delegate and one 
alternate to cast the vote for each member municipality. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

In accordance with the bylaws of the Mississippi Municipal League, the voting delegate(s) for the 
2024 Mississippi Municipal League election to be held at the annual convention on June 25th, 2024 
as follows: 

Voting Delegate:         Chokwe Antar Lumumba 
 
First Alternate:            Angelique Lee     
 
            That public interest and necessity requiring same, this Resolution shall become effective 
upon passage. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.     
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PERSONAL 
PROPERTY AUCTION AGREEMENT WITH AUCTION 18, LLC TO 
CONDUCT PUBLIC AUCTIONS FOR THE DISPOSAL OF ANY LOST, 
STOLEN, ABANDONED, OR MISPLACED PERSONAL PROPERTY FOR 
THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT.  
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           347 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department frequently recovers stolen, lost, misplaced, 
or abandoned property; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-39-21 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, gives 
governing authorities for the City of Jackson a procedure for disposing of any lost, stolen, 
abandoned, or misplaced personal property, which shall be by public auction to the highest bidder; 
and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-39-21 of the Mississippi Code requires the selling of stolen, lost, 
misplaced or abandoned personal property at public auction if it remains unclaimed fòr a period 
of one hundred twenty days after the provision of the notice set forth in the statute; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Jackson to contract with a licensed 
auctioneer, Auction 18, LLC, to conduct the auctions contemplated by Section 21-39-21; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department for the City of Jackson, Mississippi desires 
to enter into a Personal Property Auction Agreement with Auction, 18, LLC; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed contract with Auction 18, LLC shall commence on June l, 2024, 
and expire on May 31, 2025. The parties agree to a one (l) two-year additional renewal term 
covering that may be exercised by the City of Jackson. Unless the City of Jackson provides notice 
to terminate said Agreement, it will renew automatically for two years; and 

WHEREAS, Auction 18, LLC shall receive, and the City shall pay as full compensation 
for all services a sum not to exceed 9.0 percent of the gross sales receipts at the close of auction 
performed by Auction 18, LLC, which may be deducted from the gross sales receipts; and 

WHEREAS, If the City manages payment collection at the close of the auction, the City 
will pay all invoices within 45 days of submission pursuant to State law. Should Auction 18, LLC 
manage payment collection at the close of the auction, Auction 18, LLC shall turn over net 
proceeds from the auction to the City within five (5) days from date of the auction, along with the 
sale records and receipts; and 

WHEREAS, all property will be sold to the highest bidder. No property shall be sold or 
withdrawn from the auction prior to the auction except by mutual Agreement between the City 
and Auction 18, LLC. 

WHEREAS, if the property is sold or withdrawn prior to the auction, Auction 18, LLC 
shall receive a 9 percent commission on the item. Auction 18, LLC shall receive a 9 percent 
commission on any item withdrawn from sale, transferred, or sold within 30 days after the auction. 
Auction 18, LLC agrees to pay all expenses of preparation, advertising, and conducting said 
auction. In case of postponement, the auction will take place on a later date, agreeable to Seller 
and Auction 18, LLC. The commission will be based on a percentage of the gross sales; and 

WHEREAS, Auction 18, LLC shall indemnify and hold harmless the City and its officials, 
agents, and employees from and against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses, direct, indirect, 
or consequential (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, 
and other professional and costs related to court action or arbitration arising out of or resulting 
from the performance of the Agreement or the actions of the Auction 18, LLC or its officials, 
employees, or agents under this Agreement or the Agreements entered into by the Auction 1 8, 
LLC in connection with this Agreement. This indemnification shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the proposed Agreement is attached and made a part of the minutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, according to the State of Secretary, Nicholas L. Varner has an active 
Auctioneer License (No. 1376) in Mississippi and is in good standing to business in this state: and 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a Personal 
Property Auction Agreement with Auction 18, LLC commencing on June l, 2024, and expiring on 
May 31, 2025. The parties agree to a one (l) two-year additional renewal term covering that may 
be exercised by the City of Jackson. Unless the City of Jackson provides notice to terminate said 
Agreement, it will renew automatically for two years. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           348 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           349 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           350 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview 
of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT TO JONES REFRIGERATION, 
INC. FOR REPLACEMENT MOTORS, UNFREEZE THE FREEZER AND A 
SYSTEM CHECK FOR ALL OPERATIONS.  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson and the Jackson Police Department's freezer was in need 
of repair to its refrigeration system at the Jackson Animal Control located at 140 Outer Circle, 
Jackson, Mississippi; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           351 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the Jones Refrigeration Company, P.O. Box 5945, Brandon, Mississippi was 
contacted to make the needed repairs to the freezer; and 
 

WHEREAS, the following repairs were made by Jones Refrigeration, P.O. Box 5945, 
Brandon, Mississippi on September 15, 2023. Two locked up motors was replaced. The freezer 
was started and all system operation was checked. The total amount of the repairs is $1,133.90; 
and 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor authorized payment to Jones Refrigeration 
Company, P.O. Box 5945, Brandon, Mississippi for repairs made to the freezer located at the 
Animal Control department at 140 Outer Circle, Jackson, Mississippi. The total amount of the 
repairs is $1,133.90. 
 

IT IS FURTHERED ORDERED that the Mayor or his designee be authorized to pay the 
cost of repairs to the freezer at the Animal Control department at 140 Outer Circle, Jackson, 
Mississippi.  

 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER APPROVING PAYMENT OF INVOICES FOR GOODS AND 
SERVICES RECEIVED BY THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT FROM 
THE MISSISSIPPI FORENSIC LABORATORY (DPS CRIME LAB).  
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code as amended states that the 
governing authorities of every municipality shall have the care, management, and control of 
municipal affairs and its property and finances and may adopt orders, resolutions, or ordinances 
with respect to same which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the 
Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 
         WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department obtained goods and services from Mississippi 
Forensic Laboratory; and 
 
         WHEREAS, the goods or services obtained from the vendor were lawful and for a proper 
municipal purpose; and 
 
        WHEREAS, the invoices of Mississippi Forensic Laboratory (DPS Crime Lab) remain 
unpaid; and 
 
        WHEREAS, the vendor was unaware of the error or failure of the Jackson Police 
Department concerning the procurements and furnished the goods and services in good faith; and 
 
       WHEREAS, Section 31-7-57(2) of the Mississippi Code states that a vendor who in good 
faith delivers commodities and services shall be entitled to recover the fair market value of the 
commodities or services if the vendor had no control of, participation in, or actual knowledge of 
the error or failure; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the invoices submitted by Mississippi Forensic Laboratory (DPS Crime Lab) 
which remain unpaid are as follows: 
 

Invoice Date Invoice Number Amount Service 
6/3/21 90104543 $720.00 Analytical Fees 
7/6/21 90105636 $540.00 Analytical Fees 
8/5/21 90107868 $1,800.00 Analytical Fees 
10/4/21 90109975 $480.00 Analytical Fees 
11/5/21 90111457 $660.00 Analytical Fees 
12/3/21 90112417 $780.00 Analytical Fees 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           352 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

1/5/22 90113345 $600.00 Analytical Fees 
2/8/22 90114529 $780.00 Analytical Fees 
3/2/22 90115346 $780.00 Analytical Fees 
4/6/22 90116255 $1,500.00 Analytical Fees 
5/10/22 90117919 $1,980.00 Analytical Fees 
6/7/22 90118952 $960.00 Analytical Fees 
8/3/22 90120952 $1,260.00 Analytical Fees 
9/8/22 90122126 $1,560.00 Analytical Fees 
3/13/23 90129081 $960.00 Analytical Fees 
5/15/23 90131442 $900.00 Analytical Fees 
8/8/23 90134662 $1,560.00 Analytical Fees 
9/11/23 90135691 $1,140.00 Analytical Fees 
10/12/23 90136874 $1,080.00 Analytical Fees 
11/7/23 90137907 $720.00 Analytical Fees 
12/8/23 90139181 $1,500.00 Analytical Fees 
1/3/24 90139532 $1,560.00 Analytical Fees 
2/6/24 90141287 $2,400.00 Analytical Fees 
3/8/24 90142532 $3,060.00 Analytical Fees 
4/4/24 90143599 $2,100.00 Analytical Fees 
Totals 25 Invoices $31,380.00 

 

 
        WHEREAS, the sums invoiced are fair market value for the goods and services received; 
and 
 
          WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by payment of the 
invoices because payment would ensure that future goods and services can be procured. 
 
        IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the following invoices of Mississippi Forensic 
Laboratory (DPS Crime Lab) are approved to be paid in the amount of $31,380.00. 
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
  

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO AMEND AN ORDER FORM 
BETWEEN THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT AND POWERDMS 
DIGITAL MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE FOR A RENEWAL SUBSCRIPTION 
TERM OF TWELVE (12) MONTHS.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Police Department uses its General Orders as the rules 
and regulations to govern its employees and conducts training on said General Orders; and  

WHEREAS, PowerDMS provides digital management software for policy and 
compliance management platforms. Also, it provides a training solution to create, track and, 
deliver training content online; and  

WHEREAS, PowerDMS will provide this software fo the Jackson Police Department for 
a subscription term of twelve (12) months for a sum of$4,304.31, which started December 20, 
2023 and ends on December 29, 2024; and  

WHEREAS, PowerDMS will provide a PowerPolicy Professional Subscription, 
PowerTraining, PowerStandards for MSLEAC and an MSLEAC Manual; and  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department has sufficient funding to pay the said 
subscription term in their general fund; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Police Department has budgeted for the cost of these 
services in its General Fund.  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           353 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the City of Jackson is authorized to execute an order 
form and pay PowerDMS $4,304.31 for a renewal subscription term of twelve months, which 
started December 20, 2023 and ends on December 29, 2024. 

 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.   
Nays – None. 
Abstention – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER APPROVING PAYMENT FOR PAST PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
PERFORMED BY THE MISSISSIPPI STATE FIRE ACADEMY FOR THE 
JACKSON FIRE DEPARTMENT AND ITS FIREFIGHTERS.  
 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi State Fire Academy (Fire Academy) performs various 
required professional services for the Jackson Fire Department and its Firefighters including, 
training, certifications, fit testing, agility testing, etc. and 
 
            WHEREAS, the Jackson Fire Department has received several invoices from the Fire 
Academy covering various professional services performed for the Jackson Fire Department, said 
invoices are numbered as follows: invoice # 31485, invoice # 31447, invoice # 31497, invoice # 
31575, invoice # 31636, invoice # 31482, invoice # 31456, invoice # 31417, and invoice # 31366; 
and 
 
            WHEREAS, the total cost for the above invoices is Two Thousand Eight Hundred and 
Forty-Five Dollars ($2,845.00); and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City that prompt payment be made to the Fire 
Academy pursuant to the above invoices in the total amount of Two Thousand Eight Hundred and 
Forty-Five Dollars ($2,845.00) for the various required professional services it performed for the 
Jackson Fire Department and its Firefighters; and 
 
            IT IS THEREBY ORDERED that the previous professional services performed by the 
Fire Academy is ratified and that prompt payment shall be made to the Fire Academy pursuant to 
its invoices discussed above for the total amount of Two Thousand Eight Hundred and Forty-Five 
Dollars ($2,845.00) from account number: 001.441.20-6419; and 
 
            IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that prompt payment shall be made from account number: 
001.441.20-6419 for each of the below invoices in the amount indicated; and 
 

·         Invoice 31485 - $200.00 
·         Invoice 31447 - $200.00 
·         Invoice 31497 - $120.00 
·         Invoice 31575 - $600.00 
·         Invoice 31636 - $370.00 
·         Invoice 31482 - $160.00 
·         Invoice 31456 - $20.00 
·         Invoice 31417 - $175.00 
·         Invoice 31366 - $1,000.00 
·         Total = $2,845.00 

            
            IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any documents 
and/or agreements that may be needed to effectuate this Order. 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           354 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

ORDER APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF THE SUM OF $120.74 TO AXIM 
GEOSPATIAL, LLC FOR ADDITIONAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
PROVIDED TO SUPPORT THE UPGRADING OF THE CITY OF JACKSON'S 
311 ACTION LINE SOFTWARE CITYWORKS.  
 

WHEREAS, on October 11, 2022, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 
authorized the Mayor to execute an agreement with Axim Geospatial, LLC to provide professional 
services supporting the upgrading of the Cityworks software, which included a GIS Support Block 
at a cost not to exceed $67,500.00; and  
 

WHEREAS, the October 11, 2022 action of the governing authorities which authorized 
the contract is recorded in Minute Book 6W at pages 36-38; and  
 

WHEREAS, the October 11, 2022 minutes of the governing authorities specified the 
hourly rate of compensation to be paid for staff within the Solutions Architect Category as $241.48 
per hour; and  
 

WHEREAS, Axim Geospatial, LLC submitted an invoice for additional services 
performed by staff within the Solutions Architect Category; and  
 

WHEREAS, Invoice Number 13714 dated March 12, 2024 was submitted by Axim 
Geospatial, LLC for additional services performed by staff within the Solutions Architect 
Category; and  
 

WHEREAS, one-half hour of service was invoiced in the amount of $120.74; and  
 

WHEREAS, personnel within the Department of Information Technology have confirmed 
that the work was performed satisfactorily.  
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the sum of $120.74 may be paid to Axim Geospatial 
LLC for the additional work performed.  
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the contents of this order shall not be construed as 
authorizing the procurement of additional services and the payment of additional monies to Axim 
Geospatial LLC other than the $120.74. 
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Muriel Reid, Director of Information Technology, who 
provided a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO PROCURE TWO (2) 
MICROSOFT PROJECT SOFTWARE LICENSES AND EXECUTE THE 
QUOTE DOCUMENT FURNISHED BY METRIX SOLUTIONS AT AN 
ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION COST OF $1,320.00.  

 
WHEREAS, Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi Code authorizes governing authorities to 

purchase goods which do not involve an expenditure of more than $5,000.00 without advertising 
or requesting competitive bids; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Information Technology has determined that software 
known as Microsoft Project would be beneficial to the Department because it will aid in project 
scheduling, resource management, budgeting, and other functions of the Department; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           355 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, Metrix Solutions located at 190 East Capitol Street, Ste 175, Jackson, 
Mississippi is a Partner or company authorized to distribute Microsoft Products and submitted 
Quote # 063171 for Microsoft Projects Software to the Director of the Department of Information 
Technology indicating that two (2) software licenses can be provided at an annual cost of $660.00 
per licensed user for a total of $1 ,320.00; and 

WHEREAS, the following general terms apply to Microsoft Products when an order is 
accepted: 

(a) The Customer is granted a nonexclusive and limited license to use the products 
ordered as provided in the applicable Use Rights and the agreement; 

( b) The license is granted on a subscription basis and expires at the end of the 
applicable subscription period unless renewed; 

( c) For subscriptions, the Use Rights in effect at the start of each subscription 
period will apply. Customers with subscriptions for software may use new 
versions released during the subscription period subject to the Use Rights in effect 
when the versions are released. Microsoft may update the Use Rights periodically, 
but materially adverse changes for a particular version will not apply during the 
applicable license, subscription billing period; 

( d) Customer will control access to and use of the product by End Users and is 
responsible for any use of the products that does not comply with the agreement. 

(e)     Products are protected by copyright and other intellectual property laws and 
international treaties. Rights to access or use a product on a device will not give 
the Customer the right to implement patents or other intellectual property on the 
device itself or in any other software or devices. 

(f)      Customer is prohibited from: (l) reverse engineering, decompiling, or 
disassembling any product or attempting to do so; (2) installing or using non 
Microsoft software or technology in any way that would subject Microsoft's 
intellectual property or technology to other license terms; (3) working around 
technical limitations in a product or restrictions in product documentation; (4) 
upgrading or downgrading parts of a product at different times; (5) distributing, 
sublicensing, renting, leasing or lending any products, in whole or in part, or using 
them to offer hosting services to a third party. 

(g)     Microsoft may verify Customer's compliance with the agreement at any time 
upon 30- day notice; 

(h)     Customer consents to the processing of personal data by Microsoft and its 
affiliates and their respective agents and subcontractors as provided in the 
agreement. Before providing personal data to Microsoft, customer will obtain all 
required consents from third parties. 

(i)       Each party will take reasonable steps to protect the other's Confidential 
Information and will use the other party's Confidential Information only for 
purposes of the parties' business relationship. Neither party will disclose 
Confidential Information to third parties, except to its representatives, and then only 
on a need-to-know basis under nondisclosure obligations at last as protective as this 
Agreement. Each party remains responsible for the use of Confidential Information 
by its representatives and, in the event of discovery of any unauthorized use or 
disclosure, must promptly notify the other party. 

(j)       The Confidentiality obligation applies until it is deleted from Online 
Services; and for all other Confidential Information, for a period of five years after 
a party receives the Confidential Information. 

(k)     Microsoft will defend a Customer against any third-party claim to the extent 
it alleges that a Product made available by Microsoft for a fee and used within the 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           356 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

scope of the license granted under the Agreement misappropriates a trade secret or 
directly infringes a patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a 
third party. If Microsoft is unable to resolve a claim of misappropriation or 
infringement, it may, at its option, either (1) modify or replace the product with a 
functional equivalent or terminate Customer's license and refund any license fees 
including amounts paid in advance for unused consumption for any usage period 
after the termination date. Microsoft will not be liable for any claims or damages 
due to Customer's continued use of a product after notified to stop due to a third-
party claim. 

(l)       If Customer orders from a Partner, the Partner will set Customer's pricing 
and Payment terms for the order, and Customer will pay the amount due to the 
Partner. Pricing and payment terms related to orders placed by Customer directly 
with Microsoft are set by Microsoft, and Customer will pay the amount due as 
described in the agreement by providing Microsoft with account information and 
consenting to Microsoft's use of account information regarding the payment 
method. 
(m ) The agreement is effective until terminated by a party. Termination without 
cause may occur on the provision of 60- day notice. Termination without cause 
will not affect licenses granted on a subscription basis and will continue for the 
duration of the subscription period subject to the terms of the Agreement. 
Termination for cause may occur upon the provision of 30 -day notice for material 
breach if the other party fails to cure the breach within the 30- day period. Upon 
termination for cause, the license will terminate immediately. All amounts due 
under any unpaid invoice shall become due and payable immediately. If Microsoft 
is in breach, Customer will receive a credit for any subscription fees, including 
amounts paid in advance for unused consumption for any usage period after the 
termination date. 

( n) The Customer is free to enter into agreements to license, use, and promote the 
products and services of others; 

(o) No third- party beneficiaries are created by the agreement. 

WHEREAS, the general terms contained language indicating that the agreement would be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the State of Washington and federal laws of the 
United States; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson does not agree to be bound by the laws of the State of 
Washington but does agree to be bound by federal law, if applicable; and 

WHEREAS, the general terms included language concerning venues for bringing action 
in locations other than the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson rejects any part of the agreement which would require it 
to appear in a jurisdiction other than the State of Mississippi, preferably, in Jackson Mississippi. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that two Microsoft Project software licenses may be 
procured from Metrix Solutions, an authorized distributor of Microsoft Products. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the sum of $1,320.00 annually may be paid for the 
Microsoft Project licenses. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Microsoft Project licenses may be renewed annually 
without further order of the governing authorities provided the cost of the licenses remain at 
$1,320.00, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the general terms of the Microsoft agreement are 
accepted save for those which have been specifically rejected above regarding governing law and 
venue.  

 
  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           357 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AMENDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ORDER TO CORRECT 
THE MONTHLY PAYMENT AMOUNT FOR THE LEASE OF FIFTY GOLF 
CARTS FROM YAMAHA MOTOR FINANCE CORPORATION, USA, SAID 
MONTHLY PAYMENTS SHOULD TOTAL THREE THOUSAND FOUR 
HUNDRED EIGHTY-THREE DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS ($3,483.50) AND 
GIVING THE MAYOR AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE AN AMENDED 
EQUIPMENT SCHEDULE REFLECTING THE ABOVE CHANGES.  
 

WHEREAS, on March 26, 2024, the Jackson City Council approved an Order “Ratifying 
Previously Executed Amendment to Yamaha Motor Finance Corporation’s Equipment Schedule 
Number 217979 and Amending Previous Order that was Approved by the City Council on 
December 6, 2022, to Reduce the Number of Leased Golf Carts by Fifteen thereby Lowering the 
Current Monthly Payment from Four Thousand Five Hundred Twenty-Eight Dollars and Fifty-
Five Cents ($4,528.55) to Three Thousand One Hundred Thirty-Three Dollars and Fifty Cents 
(3,133.50)” (Previous Order); and 
 
            WHEREAS, the Previous Order contained a clerical error whereby two numbers were 
transposed resulting in an incorrect monthly payment amount; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the calculation for the new monthly payment amount is as follows: 
($4,528.55 / 65 carts) x (50 carts) = $3,483.50; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the calculation listed above shows the original monthly payment amount of 
$4,528.55 divided by the original order of 65 golf carts which gives a total per golf cart of $69.67, 
then that amount is multiplied by 50 golf carts (the number of golf carts we have now after having 
returned the fifteen unneeded golf carts) giving the new monthly total of $3,483.50; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Yamaha Motor Finance Corporation has provided the Parks and Recreation 
Department an Amended Equipment Schedule (Schedule # 217979) that reflects the change in the 
monthly payment amount; and 
 
            WHEREAS, no other items need to be amended in the Previous Order; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the Previous Order be 
amended to show a new monthly payment amount for the lease of fifty (50) golf carts totaling 
Three Thousand Four Hundred and Eighty-Three Dollars and Fifty Cents ($3,483.50); and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the Mayor be authorized 
to execute Yamaha Motor Finance Corporation’s Amended Equipment Schedule (Schedule # 
217979) that reflects the above monthly payment. 
 
            IT IS THEREBY ORDERED that the Previous Order is amended to show the correct 
monthly payment amount for the lease of fifty (50) golf carts from Yamaha Motor Finance 
Corporation totaling Three Thousand Four Hundred and Eighty-Three Dollars and Fifty Cents 
($3,483.50). 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Yamaha Motor 
Finance Corporation’s Amended Equipment Schedule (Schedule # 217979) that reflects the above 
monthly payment. 
 
            IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) that may be needed to effectuate this Order. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           358 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

  President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Director of Parks and Recreation, who 
provided a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING RATIFICATION OF PAST PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES AND APPROVING PAYMENT TO FISHER FIRE 
EXTINGUISHER SERVICE FOR PROVIDING REQUIRED YEARLY FIRE 
EXTINGUISHER INSPECTION SERVICES FOR CITY COMMUNITY 
CENTERS.  
 

WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department oversees four (4) community centers 
located in the City: Grove Park, Vergy P. Middleton, Jayne Avenue, and Battlefield Park. Said 
community centers have fire extinguishers that require a yearly inspection; and 
 

WHEREAS, Fisher Fire Extinguisher Service (Fisher) provides fire extinguisher 
inspection services. Fisher inspected nine (9) fire extinguishers located in these community 
centers. Fisher submitted an invoice for its inspection services totaling Fifty Dollars ($50.00); and 
 

WHEREAS, Fisher’s fire extinguisher inspection service was verified by Programming 
Manager Lisa Wilson; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the city that Fisher’s inspection services be 
ratified, and that Fisher’s invoice be promptly paid. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that Fisher’s fire extinguisher inspection services are 
ratified and that payment in the amount of Fifty Dollars ($50.00) shall be made to Fisher from 
account no. 005-501.60-6419.  
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Willie Owens, Chief of Jackson Fire Department, who provided 
a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT 
WITH THE GROVE PARK JUNIOR GOLF CLINIC, INC. FOR THE USE OF 
THE CITY-OWNED PETE BROWN GOLF FACILITY LOCATED AT 3200 
WOODROW WILSON DRIVE.  

 
WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5(1) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended states that 

the governing authorities of every municipality of the state shall have the care, management, and 
control of the municipal affairs and its property and finances; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, an opinion issued by the Mississippi Attorney General to Lawrence E. Hahn 
on June 11, 2010, stated that a municipality may authorize the use of municipal facilities or 
municipal property so long as a uniform use policy is in existence for such use, and provided that 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           359 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

said use policy passes constitutional muster and is applied consistently to all individuals or groups 
using the municipal facilities or property; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson owns and operates a public golf facility known as the 
“Pete Brown Golf Facility”; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson has a policy whereby it does not charge admission to 
youths under the age of seventeen (17) for use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility”; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park Junior Golf Clinic, Inc., (“Grove Park”) is a non-profit 
corporation created on July 26, 2006, and is in good standing according to information appearing 
on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s website; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park is comprised of members under the age of seventeen (17) who 
are interested in or who are participating in its golf clinic programs; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park approached the Department of Parks and Recreation concerning 
the feasibility of utilizing the putting greens and driving range of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility” 
on Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m.; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, The Director of the Department of Parks and Recreation has evaluated Grove 
Park’s request and has determined that preference for use of the putting greens and driving range, 
on the days and times listed above, will not substantially impact the use of the “Pete Brown Golf 
Facility” by fee paying patrons; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park will release, indemnify, and hold the City, its officers, agents, 
and employees harmless from any claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of their 
use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility”; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park will indemnify the City against all damages, liabilities, expenses, 
and losses arising out of its use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility”; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park will provide the City of Jackson with a Certificate of Liability 
Insurance naming the City of Jackson as a co-insured with combined limits of not less than one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury and property damage; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, Grove Park’s use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility” will be non-exclusive 
and for a limited period of time commencing June 03, 2024, and ending on July 12, 2024; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Grove Park will not be required to pay fees for use of the “Pete Brown Golf 
Facility” on Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. consistent with the municipal 
policy that does not charge fees to youths under the age of seventeen (17); and, 
 

WHEREAS, the best interests of the City of Jackson would be served by allowing Grove 
Park’s use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility” as described above because the use promotes the 
facility to the public, promotes youths’ engagement in healthy outdoor physical activities, 
promotes teamwork and camaraderie, and encourages patronage of the facility by the adults who 
are responsible for supervising the youths’ activities.  
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED, that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute an 
Agreement with Grove Park for the use of the “Pete Brown Golf Facility” putting greens and 
driving range on Monday through Friday between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. for a limited 
period commencing on June 03, 2024, and ending on July 12, 2024. 
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Director of Parks and Recreation, who 
provided a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           360 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES FROM AND PAYMENTS TO PEOPLE’S PLACE ENTERPRISE 
LLC FOR TREE, LIMB, AND RELATED DEBRIS REMOVAL AND/OR 
STUMP GRINDING FOR THE PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT.  

 
WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department oversees fifty-seven (57) city-owned 

parks throughout Jackson, Mississippi; and 

            WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department also oversees four (4) city-owned 
community centers, five (5) city-owned gymnasiums, and two (2) city-owned golf facilities; and 

            WHEREAS, each of the city-owned facilities overseen by the Parks and Recreation 
Department has numerous trees on the premises that, in the event of extreme weather or for other 
various reasons, may cause hazardous conditions for the youth, citizens, and visitors of the City of 
Jackson; and 

            WHEREAS, tree, tree limb, and debris cleanup and removal require immediate action due 
to the risks, dangers, and liabilities involved with delaying such actions; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise LLC is an active vendor (vendor number 401078) 
with the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise is a limited liability company, currently in Good 
Standing with the Mississippi Secretary of the State, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of 
Mississippi on September 25, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise has a ONE MILLION DOLLAR ($1,000,000.00) 
Commercial General Liability Insurance Policy, naming the City of Jackson as a certificate holder 
(additional insured); and 

WHEREAS, in years past, the City primarily used various vendors for tree, tree limb, and 
debris removal services, however proceeding in that manner introduced several delays in obtaining 
and paying for the services, which, in turn, created scenarios where fallen trees and tree limbs 
remained in place for extended periods of time thereby endangering citizens and subjecting the 
City to liability; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise has specialized tools and equipment and sufficient 
personnel to provide the above-described professional services as well as a fast response time; and 

            WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department desires to obtain preapproval to receive 
People’s Place Enterprise’s professional tree removal services along with the approval to make 
payments for said services to allow for the quick removal of fallen trees, limbs, and debris, thereby 
reducing potential harm to citizens, and reducing the City’s liability for such fallen trees and limbs; 
and  

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise submitted a quote that estimates a charge of 
approximately EIGHT HUNDRED to TWELVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($800.00 - $1,200.00) 
for the removal and hauling away of small trees; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise submitted a quote that estimates a charge of 
approximately NINETEEN HUNDRED to TWENTY-FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($1,900 - 
$2,500.00) for the removal and hauling away of large trees; and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise submitted a quote that estimates a charge of 
approximately TWO HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FIVE to FIVE HUNDRED AND FIFTY 
DOLLARS ($225.00 - $550.00) for stump grinding; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           361 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

  WHEREAS, the above quotes include the removal and disposal of all debris associated 
with the tree removal services; and 

WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department estimates that the above-described tree 
and debris removal professional services will cost TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($25,000.00); and 

WHEREAS, People’s Place Enterprise has agreed to provide detailed invoices whenever 
its tree removal services are utilized and any other necessary documentation; and   

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson to have a tree and debris 
removal professional services agreement in place for the rapid removal and cleanup of fallen trees, 
tree limbs, and related debris in order to provide safe parks and recreational facilities for the youth 
and citizens of Jackson and to reduce the City’s potential liability. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the quotes submitted by People’s Place Enterprise for 
the above-described tree removal services is approved in an amount not to exceed TWENTY-FIVE 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($25,000.00). 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that People’s Place Enterprise shall submit detailed 
invoices and any other required documentation to the City any time said professional tree removal 
services are utilized. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that People’s Place Enterprise shall not engage in its tree 
removal services until contacted by the Parks and Recreation Department and a decision is made 
as to how many large and/or small trees there are to be removed and the number of stumps that 
will require grinding. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Parks and Recreation Department will follow-up 
after said tree removal services are completed to verify the correct number of large and/or small 
trees were removed, to verify the number of stumps that were grinded, and to verify that all related 
tree debris has been properly hauled away. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all future payments for said professional services be 
made to Rodderick Stutts D/B/A People’s Place Enterprise (vendor no. 401748) from the “Other 
Professional Services” Category of the Parks and Recreation Budget. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) needed to effectuate this Order. 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

   
President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Director of Parks and Recreation and 
Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks requested that Agenda Item No. 39 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 
no objections, the Clerk read the following:  
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH CITY COLLECTIVE US, LLC FOR 
MASTER PLANNING SERVICES FOR EUBANKS CREEK.  

 
WHEREAS, the residents of the City of Jackson residing near Eubanks Creek have 

experienced flash flooding issues that appear to arise from inadequate creek capacity; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           362 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Department of Public Works desires to retain a firm to 
provide Master Plan for the Eubanks Creek watershed to alleviate flash flooding issues; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson has funding remaining from $500,000.00 grant from the 
State of Mississippi to address drainage issue along Eubanks Creek; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Fondren Renaissance Foundation has recommended the planning and 
design firm of City Collective US, LLC, whose office 817 West Peachtree Street NW, Suite 200, 
Atlanta, Georgia 30308, to provide necessary planning and design services for the project; and 
 

WHEREAS, City Collective US, LLC will create a master plan and design that 1) crafts 
an ambitious, yet implementable vision for Eubanks Creek and the immediate surrounding parcels, 
2) outlines a step-by-step roadmap for incremental implementation, and 3) clearly identifies 
discrete infrastructure and public work projects to attract and align funding over time; and 
 

WHEREAS, the scope and various task included in the proposed agreement are as follows: 
 

BASIC SCOPE OF SERVICES. The Design Team will prepare the Basic Scope of 
Services over eight key tasks: 

 
Task 0 – Project Mobilization. The Design Team will work with the Client to 1) establish 
a Stakeholder Steering Committee which is to meet periodically, 2) identify and place key 
meetings and milestones on calendars, and 3) outline on points-on-contact and overall 
project communication. 

 
Task 1 – Mission & Goals. The Design Team will collect, analyze, and summarize our 
understanding of the project’s mission, goals, and requirements. We will review previous 
planning documents and new and proposed projects in the area. We will facilitate a working 
session with the Client to review and receive feedback. The Design Team will also conduct 
an in-person, all-day site visit. 

 
Task 2 – Challenges & Opportunities. The Design Team will collect and summarize the 
opportunities and challenges for the site and program. We will facilitate a working session 
with the Client to review and receive feedback. 

 
Task 3 – Case Studies. The Design Team will summarize case studies that deploy 
strategies that overcome similar challenges and/or build on similar opportunities as 
identified in Task 2. Where relevant, we will utilize case studies with similar market 
conditions. We will facilitate a working session with the Client to review and receive 
feedback on the following: reference images, diagrams, and aerial site images. 

 
Task 4 – Vision & Experience. The Design Team will prepare a spectrum of big ideas 
and facilitate a working session with the Client to review and receive feedback on the 
following: site diagrams and reference images. 

 
Task 5 – Prototyping & Optioneering. The Design Team will prepare three high-level 
master plan framework options and facilitate a working session with the Client to review 
and receive feedback on the following: sketch site plan, draft phasing plan, draft yield 
summary, and draft reference images and character sketches. 

 
Task 6 – Design Reconciliation. The Design Team will prepare a draft concept master 
plan and facilitate a working session with the Client to review and receive feedback on the 
following: 

 
• draft (x1) diagrammatic plan of all of Eubanks Creek (from Lake Hico to Pearl River) 
• draft (x1) illustrative site plan of the Eubanks Creek Focus Area (from N State St to Old 
Canton Rd) 
• draft (x4) eye level illustrations 
• draft (x1) bird-eye/aerial illustration 
• draft (x1) phasing diagram 
• draft vision booklet, illustrating the vision and the impact. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           363 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Task 7 – Design Documentation. The Design Team will prepare the final concept master 
plan and facilitate one final page-turn style work session with the Client and the 
development for final feedback on the following: 
 
• (x1) diagrammatic plan of all of Eubanks Creek (from Lake Hico to Pearl River) 
• (x1) illustrative site plan of the Eubanks Creek Focus Area (from N State St to Old Canton 
Rd) 
• (x4) eye level illustrations 
• (x1) bird-eye/aerial illustration 
• (x1) phasing diagram 
• vision booklet, illustrating the vision and the impact; 

and 
 

WHEREAS, City Collective US, LLC proposes to perform the work on the following 
schedule: 
 

SCHEDULE. The Design Team will prepare the Scope of Services over 35 (thirty-five) 
weeks, as follows: 

 
Task    Name     Duration    Timing 
Task 0    Project Mobilization   1 week   July 1 – July 15 
Task 1    Mission & Goals   1 week   July 1 – July 15 
Task 2    Opportunities & Challenges  2 weeks   July 15 – July 29 
Task 3    Case Studies    2 weeks   July 15 – July 29 
Task 4    Vision & Experience   2 weeks   July 29 – Aug 12 
Task 5    Optioneering & Prototyping  2 weeks   Aug 12 – Aug 26 
Task 6    Design Reconciliation  2 weeks   Aug 26 – Sept 9 
Task 7    Design Documentation  6 weeks   Sept 9 – Oct 14 

Final Presentation   18 weeks   Oct 14, 2024 
 

WHEREAS, the fee for the proposed Basic Scope of Services is a lump sum fee of 
$160,000.00, with services being billed in accordance with the percentage of work complete and 
payable consistent with Mississippi law; and 
 

WHEREAS, the basis for the scope of services and the associated cost is based on the 
following deliverables and meetings: 

 
1. Four hand-watercolored eye-level renderings; 
2. One hand-watercolored aerial rending; 
3. Virtual meetings at the City at the end of each task within the scope of work, nine (9) 
total of 1.5 hours each; and 
4. Four case studies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the hourly rates for additional services, which are subject to change six (6) 

months from date of issuance, are as follows: 
 

Managing Director $375 
Discipline Leader $275 
Team Leader $230 
Senior Staff $185 
Staff $140 
Administration $100 

 
And for outside professional consulting services 1.25 times the billed cost to City Collective US, 
LLC; and 
 

WHEREAS, reimbursable expenses are not included in the lump sum fee and will be 
charged a 1.1 times the amount expended by City Collective; and 
 

WHEREAS, the following additional services will be billed as follows, if such additional 
services are requested by the City: 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           364 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

1. Additional Renderings: The Design Team has found concept master plans typically 
require a minimum number eye-level renderings and aerial renderings to capture the 
project’s design intent (which is included in the Scope of Services noted in Exhibit C). 
Some Clients, however, would like to opt into additional renderings as their vision unfolds. 
This can be provided at an additional fee of $5,000 per rendering, and depending on when 
this additional service is requested, may add up to 4 additional weeks to prepare. 
2. Fly-Through Animation: An animation can be provided to virtually fly-through your 
concept master plan. These are between 30 seconds to 1 minute long and have 
complementary music with some minor text and labels explaining views and design intent. 
This can be provided at an additional fee of $20,000 with 4 additional weeks to prepare if 
opted in by the Client and Design Team at or before execution of this agreement, or $40,000 
with 8 additional weeks to prepare if opted in by the Client and Design Team after 
execution of this agreement. 
 
3. Concept Master Plan Video: A video can be provided that tells the entire story of your 
concept master plan. These are typically 2-3 minutes long and includes animation fly-
through, animated diagrams, animated master plan, animated phasing diagrams, animated 
3D images, and interwoven video clips of real-life similar places. This can be provided at 
an additional fee of $40,000 with 6 additional weeks to prepare if opted in by the Client 
and Design Team at or before execution of this Proposal, or $70,000 with 10 additional 
weeks to prepare if opted in by the Client and Design Team after execution of this Proposal. 
 
4. Additional Workshops: The Design Team has found concept master plans typically 
require engagement with the Client and the end of every task with an in-person workshop, 
which is included in the Scope of Services. Some Client’s, however, find it beneficial to 
have additional workshops. This can be provided at an additional fee of $3,000 for in-
person workshops and $1,500 for virtual workshops; and 

 
WHEREAS, the agreement may be terminated or suspended as follows: 

 
Either party at any time with or without cause may terminate this Proposal by written notice 
to the other. Termination shall be effective seven (7) days after the date the notice is 
received. Upon effective termination, all services provided, and expenses incurred up to 
and including the date of termination shall be immediately reimbursable, due, and payable 
to City Collective. 
 
The Client may suspend services at any time by written notice. Suspension shall be 
effective immediately. In the event of a suspension of services, City Collective shall have 
no liability for any damages to Client incurred because of such suspension. If the Client 
suspends the Project, City Collective shall be compensated for services performed prior to 
notice of such suspension. When the Project is resumed, City Collective shall be 
compensated for expenses incurred in the interruption and resumption of City Collective’s 
services. City Collective’s fees for the remaining services and the time schedules shall be 
equitably adjusted. If the Client suspends the Project greater than 60 days, City Collective 
has the right to renegotiate the terms set forth herein. 
 
Termination or suspension of services by City Collective shall in no way relieve Client of 
its obligation to compensate City Collective for services provided and expenses incurred 
up to and including the date of termination or suspension. 
 
Any failure of the Client to remit due and unpaid invoices to City Collective under this 
Agreement shall be cause for City Collective, at its sole discretion, to stop work and 
withhold Instruments of Services until all due and unpaid invoices, including accrued 
interest, are received. City Collective shall have no liability for any damages to Client 
incurred because of such stop of work. 
 
Any failure of the Client to remit due and unpaid invoices to City Collective under this 
Agreement shall be cause for termination. Written notice shall be issued to the Client seven 
(7) days prior to any termination of services. 

 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a Professional 

Services Agreement with City Collective, LLC to provide master planning services for Eubanks 
Creek, consistent with the terms set forth above, in an amount not to exceed $160,000.00. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           365 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor, who provided a brief 
overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay.   
Nays – None. 
Abstention – Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL AND PAYMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES PROVIDED BY DURHAM SCHOOL 
SERVICES LP FOR THE PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT’S 
YOUTH SUMMER PROGRAM.  
 

WHEREAS, Durham School Services LP is a current vendor (vendor number 73357) with 
the City of Jackson and has previously provided bus transportation services for the City of Jackson 
Parks and Recreation Department’s Summer Youth Program; and 
 

WHEREAS, Durham School Services provided a quote to the Parks and Recreation 
Department to provide transportation services for staff and youth participants in the Summer Youth 
Program to attend (4) field trips; and 
 

WHEREAS, Durham School Services is a limited partnership, currently in good standing 
with the Mississippi Secretary of State, formed on December 23, 2002; and            
 

WHEREAS, Durham School Services’ quote for the above-described transportation 
services totals Three Thousand Two Hundred and Thirty Dollars ($3,230.00), with each event 
being billed at Ninety-Five Dollars ($95.00) per hour; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that these transportation 
services be approved, and prompt payment made to Durham School Services so that youth 
attending the City’s Summer Youth Program may attend various field trips; therefore   
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Durham School Services’ above-described 
transportation services quote is approved and that prompt payment shall be made for said services. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Three Thousand Two 
Hundred and Thirty Dollars ($3,230.00) be made to Durham School Services from account number 
005-501.60-6419. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any agreements 
and/or documents needed to effectuate this Order. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
   
President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Director of Parks and Recreation, who 
provided a brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           366 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
ORDER ACCEPTING THE DONATION OF A FIREWORKS DISPLAY 
FROM DOWNTOWN PARTNERS, LLC AND APPROVAL OF FUTURE 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND PAYMENTS TO ARTISAN, 
PYROTECHNICS INC., DJ WALTER HURST, SNAPHAPPY FACE 
PAINTING, AND XTREME JUMPERS LLC FOR THE JUNETEENTH 
FESTIVAL BEING HELD ON TUESDAY, JUNE 18, 2024, AT THE JACKSON 
CONVENTION COMPLEX. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Parks and Recreation Department annually hosts a 
family-friendly Juneteenth Festival; said Festival will be hosted at the Jackson Convention Center 
located at 105 East Pascagoula Street on Tuesday, June 18, 2024; and  
 

WHEREAS, Downtown Partners, LLC (Downtown Partners) wishes to donate a fireworks 
display from Artisan Pyrotechnics, Inc (Artisan) to the City for the Juneteenth Festival  with no 
expectation of future favorable treatment from the City and with no intention of influencing or 
attempting to influence any future City action(s); Downtown Partners donation of the fireworks 
display arises from its desire to support the City and the Department of Parks and Recreation in 
their efforts to observe Juneteenth; and  
 

WHEREAS, Downtown Partners is a Mississippi limited liability company created April 
13, 1995, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State's Office; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation wishes to accept Downtown 
Partners' donation of the fireworks display; and  
 

WHEREAS, Artisan Pyrotechnics, Inc. (Artisan) is a Mississippi corporation created on 
December 1, 2004, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State's 
Office; Artisan has provided fireworks displays for the City numerous times in the past; and 
  

WHEREAS, Mississippi law permits the use of municipal equipment and/or employees to 
assist with the implementation of a true donation; and  
 

WHEREAS, Downtown Partners' donation of the fireworks display is a true donation as 
it will primarily benefit the City and the City has a current need for the donation; and  
 

WHEREAS, a municipality may accept a donation of real property, if it has made the 
requisite factual findings and as documented its formal acceptance in its minutes; however, a 
municipality may not accept a donation when the donation conflicts in some manner with public 
policy, results in an economic detriment to the municipality, or results in an unlawful donation by 
the municipality; and  
 

WHEREAS, Downtown Partners' donation of the fireworks display does not conflict with 
public policy, does not result in an economic detriment to the City, and does not result in an 
unlawful donation by the City; and   
 

WHEREAS, as part of the Downtown Partners' donation, the Parks and Recreation 
Department requests that the mayor be authorized to execute Artisan's professional services 
agreement as the fireworks display needs to be setup on City property; said agreement states that 
the City is not paying for the fireworks display; and  
 

WHEREAS, Artisan, as part of its professional services agreement, agrees to provide the 
City with bodily injury and property damage insurance coverage of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for the Juneteenth fireworks event and agrees to add the City as an additional 
insured; and  
 

WHEREAS, Xtreme Jumpers, LLC provided a quote to provide space jumps that will be 
available for all youth attendees of the Juneteenth Festival totaling Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars 
($250.00); Xtreme Jumpers has provided space jumps/bouncy houses for City events in the past; 
and  
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           367 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, Xtreme Jumpers is a Mississippi Limited Liability Company created on 
December 30, 2021, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State's 
Office; and 
  

WHEREAS, DJ Walter Hurst provided the Parks and Recreation Department with a quote 
to provide professional DJ services and to provide a 360-degree Photobooth rental to entertain 
attendees of the Juneteenth Festival totaling Twelve Hundred Dollars ($1,200.00), Six Hundred 
Dollars ($600.00) for the DJ services and Six Hundred Dollars ($600.00) for the 360-degree 
Photobooth rental; and  
 

WHEREAS, DJ Walter Hurst operates as a Sole Proprietorship and understands that there 
is no legal distinction between himself and the business entity; and  
 

WHEREAS, SnapHappy Face Painting provided the Parks and Recreation Department 
with a quote to provide professional face painting services that will be available to all Juneteenth 
Festival attendees totaling Five Hundred and Twenty-Five Dollars ($525.00); and 
  

WHEREAS, Tawny Johnson operates SnapHappy FacePainting as a Sole Proprietorship 
and understands that there is no legal distinction between herself and the business entity; and  
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City that it supports and hosts family-friendly 
events such as the Juneteenth Festival because such events bring the community together in 
celebration and help promote the City.  
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City accepts Downtown Partners' donation of 
the fireworks display and that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional service agreement 
with Artisan as discussed in this Order; the quote received from Xtreme Jumpers to provide space 
jumps for the Juneteenth Festival is approved; the quotes received from DJ Walter Hurst to provide 
professional DJ services and to provide the rental of a 360-degree Photobooth is approved; the 
quote received from SnapHappy FacePainting to provide professional face painting services is 
approved. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Twelve Hundred Dollars 
($1,200.00) be made to DJ Walter Hurst for professional DJ services and for the rental of a 360-
degree Photo booth from account no. 005-501.10-6419.  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Two Hundred and Fifty 
Dollars ($250.00) be made to Xtreme Jumpers for the rental of space jumps from account no. 005-
501.10- 6419. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Five Hundred and Twenty-
Five Dollars ($525.00) be made to Tawny E. Johnson D.B.A SnapHappy Face Painting for 
professional face painting services from account no. 005-501.10-6419. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) needed to effectuate this Order. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Council Member Stokes who moved; seconded by Council 
Member Grizzell, to substitute said order with the recommended order provided by City Legal. 
The motion prevailed by the following votes: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           368 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE DONATION OF A FIREWORKS DISPLAY FROM 
DOWNTOWN PARTNERS LLC AND APPROVAL OF FUTURE 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND PAYMENTS TO ARTISAN PYROTECHNICS 
INC., DJ WALTER HURST, SNAPHAPPY FACE PAINTING, AND XTREME 
JUMPERS LLC FOR THE JUNETEENTH FESTIVAL BEING HELD ON 
TUESDAY, JUNE 18, 2024, AT THE JACKSON CONVENTION COMPLEX. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Parks and Recreation Department annually hosts a 

family-friendly Juneteenth Festival; said Festival will be hosted at the Jackson Convention Center 
located at 105 East Pascagoula Street on Tuesday, June 18, 2024; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Downtown Partners, LLC (Downtown Partners) wishes to donate a fireworks 
display from Artisan Pyrotechnics, Inc. (Artisan) to the City for the Juneteenth Festival with no 
expectation of future favorable treatment from the City and with no intention of influencing or 
attempting to influence any future City action(s); Downtown Partners donation of the fireworks 
display arises from its desire to support the City and the Department of Parks and Recreation in 
their efforts to observe Juneteenth; and 

 
WHEREAS, Downtown Partners is a Mississippi limited liability company created April 

13, 1995, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State’s Office; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation wishes to accept Downtown 

Partners’ donation of the fireworks display; and 
 
WHEREAS, Artisan Pyrotechnics, Inc. (Artisan) is a Mississippi corporation created on 

December 1, 2004, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 
Office; Artisan has provided fireworks displays for the City numerous times in the past; and 

 
WHEREAS, Mississippi law permits the use of municipal equipment and/or employees to 

assist with the implementation of a true donation; and 
 
WHEREAS, Downtown Partners’ donation of the fireworks display is a true donation as 

it will primarily benefit the City and the City has a current need for the donation; and 
 
WHEREAS, a municipality may accept a donation of real property, if it has made the 

requisite factual findings and has documented its formal acceptance in its minutes; however, a 
municipality may not accept a donation when the donation conflicts in some manner with public 
policy, results in an economic detriment to the municipality, or results in an unlawful donation by 
the municipality; and 

 
WHEREAS, Downtown Partners’ donation of the fireworks display does not conflict with 

public policy, does not result in an economic detriment to the City, and does not result in an 
unlawful donation by the City; and 

 
 WHEREAS, as part of the Downtown Partners’ donation, the Parks and Recreation 
Department requests that the mayor be authorized to execute Artisan’s professional services 
agreement as the fireworks display needs to be setup on City property; said agreement states that 
the City is not paying for the fireworks display; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Artisan, as part of its professional services agreement, agrees to provide the 
City with bodily injury and property damage insurance coverage of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for the Juneteenth fireworks event and agrees to add the City as an additional 
insured; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Xtreme Jumpers, LLC provided a quote to provide space jumps that will be 
available for all youth attendees of the Juneteenth Festival totaling Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars 
($250.00); Xtreme Jumpers has provided space jumps/bouncy houses for City events in the past; 
and  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           369 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, Xtreme Jumpers is a Mississippi Limited Liability Company created on 
December 30, 2021, and is currently in good standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 
Office; and 

 
WHEREAS, DJ Walter Hurst provided the Parks and Recreation Department with a quote 

to provide professional DJ services and to provide a 360-degree Photobooth rental to entertain 
attendees of the Juneteenth Festival totaling Twelve Hundred Dollars ($1,200.00), Six Hundred 
Dollars ($600.00) for the DJ services and Six Hundred Dollars ($600.00) for the 360-degree 
Photobooth rental; and  

 
WHEREAS, DJ Walter Hurst operates as a Sole Proprietorship and understands that there 

is no legal distinction between himself and the business entity; and   
 
WHEREAS, SnapHappy FacePainting provided the Parks and Recreation Department 

with a quote to provide professional face painting services that will be available to all Juneteenth 
Festival attendees totaling Five Hundred and Twenty-Five Dollars ($525.00); and  
 

WHEREAS, Tawny Johnson operates SnapHappy FacePainting as a Sole Proprietorship 
and understands that there is no legal distinction between herself and the business entity; and 

 
WHEREAS, Thee Baby Tigers provided the Parks and Recreation Department with a 

quote to provide professional entertainment services at the Juneteenth Festival totaling Two 
Hundred Dollars ($200.00); and 

 
WHEREAS, Thee Baby Tigers is a non-profit corporation created pursuant to the laws of 

the State of Mississippi on November 13, 2019, and is currently in good standing with the 
Mississippi Secretary of State’s Office; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City that it supports and hosts family-friendly 

events such as the Juneteenth Festival because such events bring the community together in 
celebration and help promote the City.   

 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City accepts Downtown Partners’ donation of 

the fireworks display and that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional service agreement 
with Artisan as discussed in this Order; the quote received from Xtreme Jumpers to provide space 
jumps for the Juneteenth Festival is approved; the quotes received from DJ Walter Hurst to provide 
professional DJ services and to provide the rental of a 360-degree Photobooth is approved; the 
quote received from SnapHappy FacePainting to provide professional face painting services is 
approved; and the quote received from Thee Baby Tigers for professional entertainment services 
is approved. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Twelve Hundred Dollars 

($1,200.00) be made to DJ Walter Hurst for professional DJ services and for the rental of a 360-
degree Photobooth from account no. 005-501.10-6419. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Two Hundred and Fifty 

Dollars ($250.00) be made to Xtreme Jumpers for the rental of space jumps from account no. 005-
501.10-6419. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Five Hundred and Twenty-

Five Dollars ($525.00) be made to Tawny E. Johnson D.B.A SnapHappy FacePainting for 
professional face painting services from account no. 005-501.10-6419. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of Two Hundred Dollars 

($200.00) be made to Thee Baby Tigers for professional entertainment services from account no. 
005-501.10-6419. 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           370 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) needed to effectuate this Order.  
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER REVISING THE 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR BUDGET FOR THE 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION.  

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation (Parks) requests revisions to its 

2023-2024 Fiscal Year Budget (Budget) due to a change in how account number 055-504.10-6464 
(“machine/equipment maintenance and repair”) operates; and 
 
            WHEREAS, when creating Parks’ Budget, funds were allocated to account number 055-
504.10-6464 to use for lawn mower and tractor repair and maintenance. In previous Budgets, Parks 
allocated money to the same account for the same purposes and used that account for lawn mower 
and tractor repair and maintenance; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the Finance Department informed Parks in February 2024, that account 
number 055-504.10-6464 is only to be used for the repair of machinery and should not be used for 
the repair of lawn mowers and tractors; and 
 

WHEREAS, Park Maintenance has several pieces of lawn equipment that need immediate 
repair and Park Maintenance needs to purchase materials and other supplies for said lawn 
equipment; and 
 
            WHEREAS, due to the change in how account number 055-504.10-6464 operates, Parks 
has Fifty-One Thousand Seven Hundred and Eighty Dollars ($51,780.00) in said account that it 
needs to transfer to various other accounts so that Park Maintenance can use the money to make 
the needed repairs to the City’s lawn equipment; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states that 
if it affirmatively appears at any time during the current fiscal year that there is in any fund or 
account any sum remaining unexpended and not needed or expected to be needed for the purpose 
or purposes for which appropriated in said budget, then the governing authorities may, in their 
discretion, transfer such sum or any part thereof to any other fund or funds or account or accounts 
where needed, by order to such effect entered upon their minutes. This shall not, however, 
authorize the expenditure of any funds for any purpose other than that for which the levy producing 
such funds was made; and 
 

WHEREAS, Parks represents that the Fifty-One Thousand Seven Hundred and Eighty 
Dollars ($51,780.00) that it currently seeks to transfer from the “machine/equipment maintenance 
and repair” account is comprised of unspent funds that are not needed or expected to be needed 
for the purpose(s) for which said funds were originally appropriated in the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
Budget; and 
 

WHEREAS, this intradepartmental transfer of funds is in statutory compliance with 
Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, because the transfer requested 
in this Order, added to any previous Fiscal Year 2023-2024 intradepartmental transfers, does not 
exceed ten percent (10%) of the total budget amount appropriated to Parks’ Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
Budget; and 
 
             WHEREAS, Parks requests that its 2023-2024 Fiscal Year Budget be revised, as follows: 
 
 FUNDS TRANSFERRED FROM:                                       FUNDS TRANSFERRED TO: 
Machine/Equipment Maintenance and Repair 
055-504.10-6464       $17,260.00 
 
055-504.10-6464       $17,260.00 
 

Other Operating Supplies 
005-504.10-6299            $17,260.00 
Motor Vehicle Repair 
005-504.10-6316            $17,260.00 
Other Repair & Maintenance Material(s) 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           371 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

055-504.10-6464       $17,260.00  005-504.10-6317            $17,260.00 

Total$51,780.00                                         $51,780.00 
 
            WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City that Parks’ Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget 
be revised as shown in the table directly above so that lawn equipment repairs can be made and so 
that Park Maintenance can purchase materials and other supplies for said lawn equipment. 
 
            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Department of Parks and Recreation’s Fiscal 
Year 2023-2024 Budget be revised as set forth in the table above.  
 
            IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) that may be needed to effectuate this Order.  
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 26: 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE EVENT 
LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH THE CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION 
CENTER COMMISSION TO HOST THE CITY OF JACKSON'S NSD 
PLANNING EXPO INFORMATION AND NETWORKING EVENT ON APRIL 
27, 2024, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX 
THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED THIRTY DOLLARS. Said item was pulled by 
the Administration.  
    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 27: 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN EVENT RENTAL 
AGREEMENT WITH WE MARQUEE, LLC TO INSTALL AND SETUP 
MARQUEE LETTERS FOR THE NSD PLANNING EXPO TO BE HELD ON 
APRIL 27, 2024, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE 
THOUSAND FORTY-EIGHT DOLLARS AND NINETY CENTS ($1,048.90) TO 
WE MARQUEE, LLC. Said item was pulled by the Administration. 
 
    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXPEND 2021 COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FUNDS FOR FAÇADE 
IMPROVEMENTS TO SMALL BUSINESS ENTERPRISES IN THE CITY OF 
JACKSON.   
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson receives federal funds, on an annual basis, from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for several federal programs to benefit 
principally low and moderate-income individuals and families for the purposes of providing a 
suitable living environment, decent housing, and expanded economic opportunities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Public Law 116-94, was 
enacted on December 20, 2019, providing assistance for low and moderate-income persons and 
special needs populations across the country; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 3, 2021, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to submit 
to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) the City of Jackson’s 2021 
One-Year Action Plan of the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, HUD has allocated CDBG funding for housing, community, and economic 
development activities; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           372 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2021, the Office of Housing and Community Development 
(OHCD) was notified by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), of 
CDBG funding in the amount of one million eight hundred eleven thousand nine hundred eighty-
one dollars and zero cents ($1,811,981.00); and 
 

WHEREAS, OHCD has allocated sixty-five thousand one hundred thirty-one dollars and 
zero cents ($65,131.00) for small businesses to be utilized for façade improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development, through its Office of Housing 
and Community Development Division (OHCD) and Office of Economic Development (OED), 
recommends that the Mayor be authorized to use CDBG funds for small business enterprises in 
the City of Jackson for façade improvement expenses in an amount not to exceed sixty-five 
thousand one hundred thirty-one dollars and zero cents ($65,131.00) for small businesses to be 
utilized for façade improvements between November 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024; and 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to expend CDBG funds 
in a total amount not to exceed sixty-five thousand one hundred thirty-one dollars and zero cents 
($65,131.00) for small businesses to be utilized for façade improvements between November 1, 
2023 to September 30, 2024, for façade improvements for small business enterprises in the City 
of Jackson. 
 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXPEND 2022 COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FUNDS FOR FAÇADE 
IMPROVEMENTS TO SMALL BUSINESS ENTERPRISES IN THE CITY OF 
JACKSON.  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson receives federal funds, on an annual basis, from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for several federal programs to benefit 
principally low and moderate-income individuals and families for the purposes of providing a 
suitable living environment, decent housing, and expanded economic opportunities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Public Law 116-94, was 
enacted on December 20, 2019, providing assistance for low and moderate-income persons and 
special needs populations across the country; and 
 

WHEREAS, on July 19, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to submit 
to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) the City of Jackson’s 2022 
One-Year Action Plan of the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, HUD has allocated CDBG funding for housing, community, and economic 
development activities; and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 1, 2022, the Office of Housing and Community Development 
(OHCD) was notified by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) of 
CDBG funding in the amount of one million four hundred seventy-nine thousand thirty-one dollars 
and forty cents ($1,479,031.40); and 
 

WHEREAS, OHCD has allocated one hundred thousand dollars and zero cents 
($100,000.00) for small businesses to be utilized for façade improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development, through its Office of Housing 
and Community Development Division (OHCD) and Office of Economic Development (OED), 
recommends that the Mayor be authorized to use CDBG funds for small business enterprises in 
the City of Jackson for façade improvement expenses in an amount not to exceed one hundred 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           373 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

thousand dollars and zero cents ($100,000.00) for small businesses to be utilized for façade 
improvements between November 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024; and 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to expend CDBG funds 
in a total amount not to exceed one hundred thousand dollars and zero cents ($100,000.00) 
beginning November 1, 2023, through September 30, 2024, for façade improvements for small 
business enterprises in the City of Jackson. 

 
Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION, AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF A PERMANENT EASEMENT AND PAYMENT OF 
DAMAGES FOR THE LAUREL STREET AND ST. ANN STREET SEWER 
EMERGENCY REPAIR, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO 
OWNER/GRANTOR BERNARD H. BOOTH, IV.  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, §§43-31-1, et seq., provides the 
requirements for acquiring privately owned real property for projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works discovered a sinkhole caused by the failure 
of a sewer line running from Lyncrest Avenue to St. Ann Street; and 
 

WHEREAS, the failure and sinkhole occurred in the backyard of residential property 
located at 1509 St. Ann Street and identified on the Hinds County Landroll as Parcel Number 15-
151-1 and at 1606 and 1608 Laurel Street, a duplex, identified on the Hinds County Landroll as 
Parcel Number 15-152; and 
 

WHEREAS, the sinkhole irreparably damaged the foundation of a garage structure on the 
property, which required the garage to be demolished; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 43-37-3, in order to make repairs to a sewer line, has sought to 
acquire a permanent easement over certain real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds 
County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Parcel Number 15-152 and 
owned by Bernard H. Booth, IV; and 
 

WHEREAS, The City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 43-37-3 (b), and in order to make such repairs to a sewer line 
running between Lyncrest Avenue and St. Ann Street has made reasonable effort to acquire 
expeditiously an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, 
Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Parcel Number 15-152 (Bernard H. 
Booth, IV); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
and pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 43-37-3(b) and in order to make such repairs to a sewer line and 
compensate the owner for damages caused by the sewer line failure has obtained an appraisal for 
a permanent easement over real property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, 
identified on the Hinds County Landroll as Parcel Number 15-152 (Bernard H. Booth, IV, owner 
of record) damages to said parcel; and 
 

WHEREAS, fair market value for a permanent easement over real property located in City 
of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 15-152 (Bernard H. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           374 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Booth, owner of record) needed for repairs to a sewer line and damages to the property caused by 
the failure of the sewer line is $31,600.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works for the City of Jackson, Mississippi, 
recommends approval of this order to assist in the completion of repairs to one of its sewer lines; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson, Mississippi, that the repairs to the sewer line running between Lyncrest Avenue 
and St. Ann Street 
be completed and that completion of said project will similarly benefit the citizens within and to 
the City of Jackson, Mississippi. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount of 
$31,600.00 for acquisition of a permanent easement over certain property and damages herein 
identified as a Parcel Number 15-152 (Bernard H. Booth, owner of record) and that a warrant 
payable to Bernard H. Booth, IV, as record owner in an amount not to exceed $31,600.00, be 
issued and made. 

 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION AND AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS 
BOULEVARD RAISE GRANT PROJECT (PARCEL NO. 405-67, SYLVIA 
LAWSON).  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey, or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, Sections 43-31-1, et seq. of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides the requirements for acquiring privately-owned 
real property for projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City requires additional right-of-way for the placement of a bus stop on 

Medgar Evers Boulevard, which is being installed as a component of the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to place a bus stop, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the 

Department of Public Works and pursuant to Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 
amended, is seeking to acquire an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, 
Hinds County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Tax Parcel Number 
405-67 and owned by Sylvia Lawson; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 

requested that its design engineer on the project Neel-Schaffer, Inc. have the right-of-way 
necessary for the project valued and acquired; and 

 
WHEREAS, Neel-Schaffer, Inc. directed its subconsultant Integrated Right of Way to 

perform a valuation of the right-of-way, which provided a report valuing said right-of-way; and 
 
WHEREAS, the valuation contained in the report was prepared pursuant to statutory 

authorization by Section 43-7-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended: "[T]he acquiring … 
agency ... may adopt a procedure in compliance with federal regulations to waive the appraisal in 
cases involving the acquisition by sale or donation of a property with a low fair market value. For 
purposes of this chapter, property with a low fair market value is property with a fair market value 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($ 10,000.00) or less..."; and Section 24.102 of Title 49 of the Code of 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           375 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Federal Regulations provides: "(2) An appraisal is not required if: ... (ii) The Agency determines 
that an appraisal is unnecessary because the valuation problem is uncomplicated and the 
anticipated value of the proposed acquisition is estimated at $10,000 or less, based on a review of 
available data ... (A) When an appraisal is determined to be unnecessary, the Agency shall prepare 
a waiver valuation…;" and under authority of the Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 
as amended, to adopt procedures in compliance with federal regulations, and in accordance with 
49 CFR 24.102, Appendix A: "Waiver valuations are not appraisals as defined by the Uniform Act 
and these regulations [42 U.S.C §4601, et seq., and 49 CFR Part 24]; therefore, appraisal 
performance requirements or standards, regardless of their source, are not required for waiver 
valuations by this rule...;" and 

 
WHEREAS, therefore, pursuant to federal regulation and state law, the valuation provided 

to the City was performed under the allowances specified in the Jurisdictional Exception Rule of 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 

 
WHEREAS, just compensation for right-of-way over real property located in the City of 

Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 405-67 (Sylvia Lawson, 
owner of record) needed for the placement of a bus stop is $500.00; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 

City of Jackson, Mississippi that a bus stop be placed on Medgar Evers Boulevard and that 
completion of said project will similarly benefit the citizens within and the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 

 
 IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount 

of $500.00 for acquisition of right-of-way over certain property herein identified as Parcel Number 
405-67 (Sylvia Lawson, owner of record) for the purpose of the placement of a bus stop on Medgar 
Evers Boulevard.  

 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer who provided a 
brief overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION AND AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS 
BOULEVARD RAISE GRANT PROJECT (PARCEL NO. 408-487, CONNIE 
HENDERSON).  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey, or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, Sections 43-31-1, et seq. of the 
Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides the requirements for acquiring privately-owned 
real property for projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City requires additional right-of-way for the placement of a bus stop on 
Medgar Evers Boulevard, which is being installed as a component of the project; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to place a bus stop, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the 
Department of Public Works and pursuant to Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           376 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

amended, is seeking to acquire an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, 
Hinds County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Tax Parcel Number 
408-487 and owned by Connie Henderson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
requested that its design engineer on the project Neel-Schaffer, Inc. have the right-of-way 
necessary for the project valued and acquired; and 
 

WHEREAS, Neel-Schaffer, Inc. directed its subconsultant Integrated Right of Way to 
perform a valuation of the right-of-way, which provided a report valuing said right-of-way; and 
 

WHEREAS, the valuation contained in the report was prepared pursuant to statutory 
authorization by Section 43-7-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended: "[T]he acquiring … 
agency ... may adopt a procedure in compliance with federal regulations to waive the appraisal in 
cases involving the acquisition by sale or donation of a property with a low fair market value. For 
purposes of this chapter, property with a low fair market value is property with a fair market value 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($ 10,000.00) or less..."; and Section 24.102 of Title 49 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations provides: "(2) An appraisal is not required if: ... (ii) The Agency determines 
that an appraisal is unnecessary because the valuation problem is uncomplicated and the 
anticipated value of the proposed acquisition is estimated at $10,000 or less, based on a review of 
available data ... (A) When an appraisal is determined to be unnecessary, the Agency shall prepare 
a waiver valuation…;" and under authority of the Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 
as amended, to adopt procedures in compliance with federal regulations, and in accordance with 
49 CFR 24.102, Appendix A: "Waiver valuations are not appraisals as defined by the Uniform Act 
and these regulations [42 U.S.C §4601, et seq., and 49 CFR Part 24]; therefore, appraisal 
performance requirements or standards, regardless of their source, are not required for waiver 
valuations by this rule...;" and 
 

WHEREAS, therefore, pursuant to federal regulation and state law, the valuation provided 
to the City was performed under the allowances specified in the Jurisdictional Exception Rule of 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
 

WHEREAS, just compensation for right-of-way over real property located in the City of 
Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 408-487 (Connie 
Henderson, owner of record) needed for the placement of a bus stop is $500.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson, Mississippi that a bus stop be placed on Medgar Evers Boulevard and that 
completion of said project will similarly benefit the citizens within and the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount of 
$500.00 for acquisition of right-of-way over certain property herein identified as Parcel Number 
408-487 (Connie Henderson, owner of record) for the purpose of the placement of a bus stop on 
Medgar Evers Boulevard. 

 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION AND AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS 
BOULEVARD RAISE GRANT PROJECT (PARCEL NO. 405-57, ARTHUR L. 
& FANNIE M. BENNETT)  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey, or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           377 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, Sections 43-31-1, et seq. of the 
Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides the requirements for acquiring privately-owned 
real property for projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City requires additional right-of-way for the placement of a bus stop on 
Medgar Evers Boulevard, which is being installed as a component of the project; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to place a bus stop, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the 
Department of Public Works and pursuant to Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 
amended, is seeking to acquire an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, 
Hinds County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Tax Parcel Number 
405-57 and owned by Arthur L. & Fannie M. Bennett; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
requested that its design engineer on the project Neel-Schaffer, Inc. have the right-of-way 
necessary for the project valued and acquired; and 
 

WHEREAS, Neel-Schaffer, Inc. directed its subconsultant Integrated Right of Way to 
perform a valuation of the right-of-way, which provided a report valuing said right-of-way; and 
 

WHEREAS, the valuation contained in the report was prepared pursuant to statutory 
authorization by Section 43-7-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended: "[T]he acquiring … 
agency ... may adopt a procedure in compliance with federal regulations to waive the appraisal in 
cases involving the acquisition by sale or donation of a property with a low fair market value. For 
purposes of this chapter, property with a low fair market value is property with a fair market value 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($ 10,000.00) or less..."; and Section 24.102 of Title 49 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations provides: "(2) An appraisal is not required if: ... (ii) The Agency determines 
that an appraisal is unnecessary because the valuation problem is uncomplicated and the 
anticipated value of the proposed acquisition is estimated at $10,000 or less, based on a review of 
available data ... (A) When an appraisal is determined to be unnecessary, the Agency shall prepare 
a waiver valuation…;" and under authority of the Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 
as amended, to adopt procedures in compliance with federal regulations, and in accordance with 
49 CFR 24.102, Appendix A: "Waiver valuations are not appraisals as defined by the Uniform Act 
and these regulations [42 U.S.C §4601, et seq., and 49 CFR Part 24]; therefore, appraisal 
performance requirements or standards, regardless of their source, are not required for waiver 
valuations by this rule...;" and 
 

WHEREAS, therefore, pursuant to federal regulation and state law, the valuation provided 
to the City was performed under the allowances specified in the Jurisdictional Exception Rule of 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
 

WHEREAS, just compensation for right-of-way over real property located in the City of 
Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 405-57 (Arthur L. & 
Fannie M. Bennett, owners of record) and damages to the property needed for the placement of a 
bus stop is $1,200.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson, Mississippi that a bus stop be placed on Medgar Evers Boulevard and that 
completion of said project will similarly benefit the citizens within and the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount of 
$1,200.00 for acquisition of right-of-way over certain property herein identified as Parcel Number 
405-57 (Arthur L. & Fannie M. Bennett, owners of record) and damages to said parcel for the 
purpose of the placement of a bus stop on Medgar Evers Boulevard. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           378 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
ORDER ESTABLISHING JUST COMPENSATION AND AUTHORIZING 
ACQUISITION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR THE MEDGAR EVERS 
BOULEVARD RAISE GRANT PROJECT (PARCEL NO. 408-486, PHOENIX 2 
ENTERPRISE, LLC).  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is authorized to sell, convey, or hold any real or personal property 
and to make any such order respecting same that may be conducive to the best interest of the 
municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Real Property Acquisition Policies Law, Sections 43-31-1, et seq. of the 
Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides the requirements for acquiring privately-owned 
real property for projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City requires additional right-of-way for the placement of a bus stop on 
Medgar Evers Boulevard, which is being installed as a component of the project; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to place a bus stop, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the 
Department of Public Works and pursuant to Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 
amended, is seeking to acquire an interest in certain real property located in the City of Jackson, 
Hinds County, Mississippi, identified in the Hinds County Land Records as Tax Parcel Number 
408-486 and owned by Phoenix 2 Enterprise, LLC; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, through the Department of Public Works 
requested that its design engineer on the project Neel-Schaffer, Inc. have the right-of-way 
necessary for the project valued and acquired; and 
 

WHEREAS, Neel-Schaffer, Inc. directed its subconsultant Integrated Right of Way to 
perform a valuation of the right-of-way, which provided a report valuing said right-of-way; and 
 

WHEREAS, the valuation contained in the report was prepared pursuant to statutory 
authorization by Section 43-7-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended: "[T]he acquiring … 
agency ... may adopt a procedure in compliance with federal regulations to waive the appraisal in 
cases involving the acquisition by sale or donation of a property with a low fair market value. For 
purposes of this chapter, property with a low fair market value is property with a fair market value 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($ 10,000.00) or less..."; and Section 24.102 of Title 49 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations provides: "(2) An appraisal is not required if: ... (ii) The Agency determines 
that an appraisal is unnecessary because the valuation problem is uncomplicated and the 
anticipated value of the proposed acquisition is estimated at $10,000 or less, based on a review of 
available data ... (A) When an appraisal is determined to be unnecessary, the Agency shall prepare 
a waiver valuation…;" and under authority of the Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 
as amended, to adopt procedures in compliance with federal regulations, and in accordance with 
49 CFR 24.102, Appendix A: "Waiver valuations are not appraisals as defined by the Uniform Act 
and these regulations [42 U.S.C §4601, et seq., and 49 CFR Part 24]; therefore, appraisal 
performance requirements or standards, regardless of their source, are not required for waiver 
valuations by this rule...;" and 
 

WHEREAS, therefore, pursuant to federal regulation and state law, the valuation provided 
to the City was performed under the allowances specified in the Jurisdictional Exception Rule of 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice; and  

 
WHEREAS, just compensation for right-of-way over real property located in the City of 

Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, being identified as Parcel Number 408-486 (Phoenix 2 
Enterprise, LLC, owner of record) needed for the placement of a bus stop is $500.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
City of Jackson, Mississippi that a bus stop be placed on Medgar Evers Boulevard and that 
completion of said project will similarly benefit the citizens within and the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that just compensation is established in the amount of 
$500.00 for acquisition of right-of-way over certain property herein identified as Parcel Number 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           379 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

408-486 (Phoenix 2 Enterprise, LLC, owner of record) for the purpose of the placement of a bus 
stop on Medgar Evers Boulevard. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
  

ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF HOL-MAC CORPORATION FOR ONE 
(1) PACMAC KNUCKLE BOOM TRASH LOADER AND DUMP BODY, FOR 
A TOTAL COST OF $252,766.30 (BID NO. 07208- 040224).  
 

WHEREAS, sealed bids for a trash truck and knuckle boom were opened on April 02, 
2024, wherein six (6) bids were received; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Infrastructure Management Division of the Department of Public Works, 
will use the dump truck for transportation and removal of debris, the transportation of gravel and 
top soil for repairs, and transportation of the storm water lines throughout the City of Jackson for 
various improvement projects; and 
 

WHEREAS, the staff of the Infrastructure Management Division has reviewed the bid and 
recommends that the governing authorities deem the bid of Hol-Mac Corporation of MS, 160 
Commerce Drive, Bay Springs, MS 39422, received April 02, 2024, in the amount of $252,766.30, 
to be the lowest and best bid received. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the bid of Hol-Mac Corporation of MS, received 
April 02, 2024, for one PacMac knuckle boom trash loader with bulky hauler, in the amount of 
$252,766.30, is accepted as the lowest and best bid received, it being determined that said bid 
meets the City specifications. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment for said equipment be made from the Solid 
Waste Enterprise Fund. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

       * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CHANGE ORDER #2 
TO THE CONTRACT OF DICKERSON & BOWEN, INC. FOR 
CONSTRUCTION OF STREET RESURFACING PROJECT PHASE 1A.  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson executed a contract with Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. for 

Street Resurfacing Project Phase 1A; and 
 

WHEREAS, the original resurfacing project was intended to include additional streets in 
Phase 1A, which were removed from the project because JXN Water, Inc. planned to repair or 
replace water lines on these streets while the Phase 1A was scheduled to be under construction; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the City and the Special Sales Tax Commission have since learned that JXN 
Water, Inc. has completed its water line repairs or replacements for these streets; and 
 

WHEREAS, these streets are in proximity to streets that will already be paved, which will 
provide efficiency and savings to the City for the cost of the work; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           380 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed Change Order #2 includes the following additional streets for 
resurfacing because JXN Water, Inc. has completed its water line repairs: 
 

Lamar Street (George Street to Whitfield Street); 
Livingston Street (Mill Street to West Street); 
Bell Street (Mill Street to Crestview Street); 
Pinehurst Street (State Street to Dead End); 
Poplar Boulevard (State Street to Dead End); 
Manship Street (State Street to Monroe Street); 
St. Ann Street (Riverside Drive to Dead End); 
St. Mary Street (Poplar Boulevard to Laurel Street); 
Avondale Street (Old Canton to Hawthorn Drive); 
Hawthorn Drive (Old Canton to Avondale Street); and 

 
WHEREAS, as construction progressed, the contractor, engineer, and the Special Sales 

Tax Commission found that the curb and gutter on many streets was in poorer condition than 
anticipated; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to restore proper street drainage and provide a quality product, 
proposed Change Order #2 adds 36,931 linear feet of curb and gutter to the project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends acceptance of Change Order 
#2 to the contract Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. in the amount of $5,429.050.42 to increase the 
quantities in the contract to complete the project as modified. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Change Order 
#2 to the contract of Dickerson & Bowen, Inc. for the Street Resurfacing Project Phase 1A, 
increasing the contract not to exceed amount by $5,429,050.42 to a total of $10,596,355.58 and 
adding 354 calendar days to the contract time to revise the contract completion date to March 31, 
2025. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE CONTRACT WITH 
COOKE DOUGLASS FARR LEMONS ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS PA 
(”CDFL”) FOR ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR 
CONTINUED RENOVATION AND EXPANSION CONSTRUCTION 
PROJECT OF THE PLANATERIUM FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI.  
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services obtained architectural 
design services from CDFL to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall in advance of the USA 
International Ballet Completion; and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi 2022 Legislature had allocated $2,000,000.00 (two 
million dollars) to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
contracted with CDFL and covered the expenses for the design development phase of this 
construction project in an effort to expedite the overall process; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
had assigned their agreement with CDFL to the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
are planning to continue the renovations, repairs and upgrades to Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           381 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the remaining funds from the State of Mississippi 2022 Legislature allocation 
are approximately $450,000.00 to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi 2023 Legislature had allocated additional funding in 
the amount of $1,500,000.00 (one million five hundred thousand dollars) to continue the 
renovations, repairs and upgrades at Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, CDFL will continue to use their knowledge and expertise in design and 
within Thalia Mara Hall to historically create effective upgrades and improvements to the facility 
that are much needed to elevate the patron experience; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services further recommends that the 
City Council authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 1 to the contract with CDFL for 
continued architectural and engineering services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to compensate CDFL for the architectural and engineering 
services provided under this agreement at a fee not to exceed $122,500.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City and CDFL agree the renovations, repairs and upgrades will be ready 
for occupancy on or before June 30, 2026. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City of Jackson accepts the assignment of the 
contract and Amendment No. 1 between CDFL and Friends of Thalia Mara and the Community 
Foundation of Mississippi. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment No. 1 

to the contract with CDFL to provide continued architectural and engineering services for the 
renovations, repairs and upgrades to Thalia Mara Hall. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved; seconded by Council Member 
Grizzell, to amend said order replacing “Planetarium” with “Thalia Mara Hall” throughout the 
order.  
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 
 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE CONTRACT WITH 
COOKE DOUGLASS FARR LEMONS ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS PA 
(”CDFL”) FOR ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR 
CONTINUED RENOVATION AND EXPANSION CONSTRUCTION 
PROJECT OF THALIA MARA HALL FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI.  

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services obtained architectural 

design services from CDFL to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall in advance of the USA 
International Ballet Completion; and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi 2022 Legislature had allocated $2,000,000.00 (two 
million dollars) to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
contracted with CDFL and covered the expenses for the design development phase of this 
construction project in an effort to expedite the overall process; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           382 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
had assigned their agreement with CDFL to the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Thalia Mara Hall and Community Foundation for Mississippi 
are planning to continue the renovations, repairs and upgrades to Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, the remaining funds from the State of Mississippi 2022 Legislature allocation 
are approximately $450,000.00 to renovate and upgrade Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi 2023 Legislature had allocated additional funding in 
the amount of $1,500,000.00 (one million five hundred thousand dollars) to continue the 
renovations, repairs and upgrades at Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, CDFL will continue to use their knowledge and expertise in design and 
within Thalia Mara Hall to historically create effective upgrades and improvements to the facility 
that are much needed to elevate the patron experience; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services further recommends that the 
City Council authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 1 to the contract with CDFL for 
continued architectural and engineering services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to compensate CDFL for the architectural and engineering 
services provided under this agreement at a fee not to exceed $122,500.00; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City and CDFL agree the renovations, repairs and upgrades will be ready 
for occupancy on or before June 30, 2026. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City of Jackson accepts the assignment of the 
contract and Amendment No. 1 between CDFL and Friends of Thalia Mara and the Community 
Foundation of Mississippi. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment No. 1 

to the contract with CDFL to provide continued architectural and engineering services for the 
renovations, repairs and upgrades to Thalia Mara Hall. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.   
Nays – Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF SERVICES FROM CERTAIN 
VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS.  
 

WHEREAS, the Building Maintenance Division of the Department of Public Works had 
need of certain services necessary to the operation and maintenance of the City’s buildings; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary services 
was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of the City 
of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the services set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were provided to the 
City’s buildings; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure the continued and proper operation and maintenance of the 
City’s buildings, it is necessary to pay these outstanding invoices to continue receiving any needed 
services for these vendors; and 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts 
set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: Global Sector Security, LLC $202.50 A 
Complete Flag Source $250.00 Total $452.50. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           383 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           384 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
    * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 

ORDER DECLARING PARCEL #420-6 SURPLUS PROPERTY AND 
AUTHORIZING DISPOSAL OF SAME TO AGAPE CHRISTIAN 
FELLOWSHIP CHURCH FOR DEVELOPMENT OF A CHURCH.  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to an Order passed by the Jackson City Council on October 20, 

2015, parcel number 420-6 (property) was declared as surplus property with Agape Community 
Development Corporation (Agape) being awarded the property after making a successful bid for 
said property; and 
 
        WHEREAS, said property bears the following legal description: 
                

Beg N/W corner Lot 50 Brinkley Place Subn E 321.87 ft N 250.03 ft W 380.42 ft. S 195.53 
ft SE/ly 78.93 ft to POB pt NW ¼ NE ¼ Sec 21 T6N R1E less to St N/side **NORTHSIDE 
DRIVE** P#426-6 Hinds County, Mississippi Parcel / PPIN: 4206; and 

 
               WHEREAS, a Quitclaim Deed conveying the property from the City to Agape was filed 
on December 14, 2015, in Book 7183 Page 8684 in the land records of the Chancery Court for the 
First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 
 
               WHEREAS, Agape planned to construct a church on said property; and 
 
               WHEREAS, said Deed contained a reverter clause that gave Agape two (2) years from 
the date the Deed was filed to begin construction of the church, or the property would revert to the 
City’s ownership automatically; and 
 
               WHEREAS, Agape was not able to begin construction of the church within the two (2) 
year required timeframe, as such, the property automatically reverted to the City without the need 
for any legal proceedings; and 
 
                WHEREAS, Agape still desires to construct a church on the property and no city 
department has expressed a municipal need for the property; and 
 
                WHEREAS, the previous request for bids for said property ran for the required three 
(3) weeks in the Mississippi Link. Agape was the only entity to submit a bid for the property, as 
such, that bid was the highest and best bid; and 
 
                WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City that parcel number 420-6, which 
consists of a vacant lot on West Northside Drive, and which has already been found to be surplus 
property, be conveyed to Agape with the same reverter clause found in the previous Quitclaim 
Deed. 
 
                IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that pursuant to the terms of Section 21-17-1(2)(a) 
of the Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), as amended, the City accepts the bid of Agape as the 
best bid; and 
 
                IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a quitclaim deed, 
which shall contain a reverter clause as discussed in this Order, conveying the property from the 
City to Agape Christian Fellowship Church; and 
 
                IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 
and/or agreement(s) that may be required to effectuate this Order. 
 
 
 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           385 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH 
FRANCES ASHLEY TO PROVIDE ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT FOR THE 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION.  
 

WHEREAS, Mississippi Code § 21-31-1, et seq., mandate the creation of a civil service 
commission in the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor appoints a Civil Service Commission, composed of three qualified 
citizens of the City, to serve for terms of six years each; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mississippi Code § 21-31-9 charges the Civil Service Commission with 
conducting examinations, appointments, promotions, transfers, reinstatements, demotions, 
suspensions and discharges of the municipality; and also grants the Commission the power to 
conduct investigations, and make reports on all matters touching the enforcement and effect of the 
provisions of Mississippi Code Sections 21-31-1 through 21-31-27, and the rules and regulations 
prescribed by those sections; and also grants the Commission the power to investigate all 
complaints which must be reduced to writing, subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, and conduct 
hearings; and also permits the Commission to provide for any other matter connected with the 
general subject of personnel administration, and which may be considered desirable to further 
carry out the general purposes of Sections 21-31-1 through 21-31-27; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mississippi Code § 21-31-11 requires the municipal authorities to provide 
the commission with suitable and convenient rooms and accommodations and cause the same to 
be furnished, heated and lighted and supplied with all office supplies and equipment necessary to 
carry on the business of the commission and with such clerical assistance as may be necessary, 
commensurate with the number of persons subject to civil service laws; and the failure of the 
municipal authorities to do so shall be considered a violation of Mississippi law, punishable as 
such; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Civil Service Commission is required by Mississippi Code § 21-31-7 and 
the City’s Civil Service Commission rules to appoint a secretary and may also appoint such other 
administrative subordinates as may be necessary; and 
 

WHEREAS, the secretary of the Civil Service Commission is required to keep the records 
and preserve all reports made to the commission, and also a record of all examinations held under 
the direction of the board of examiners, and perform such other duties as the commission may 
prescribe; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has previously provided a budget amount within the Office of the 
City Attorney to provide for the above requirements for the Civil Service Commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Civil Service Commission desires to hire Frances Ashley to provide 
clerical, secretarial, and other administrative duties for the Commission as directed by the 
Commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Frances Ashley has indicated a willingness to enter into a contract with the 
City to provide the above-described duties to the Civil Service Commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, the terms of the City’s proposed contract with Ms. Ashley are that she be 
hired on an at-will, part-time basis, to be paid a rate of $16.72 per hour, without civil service 
protection or 
City benefits, and not to work more than 50 (fifty) hours per month; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ms. Ashley’s contract will not be for a specified term, but shall continue 
month to month at the discretion of the Civil Service Commission, the Office of the City Attorney, 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           386 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

or the Mayor, with thirty-days’ notice to be given to Ms. Ashley for the termination of the contract; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, Ms. Ashley will keep track of her time worked and submit a written invoice 
by the last day of each month to the Office of the City Attorney, addressed to Mable Coleman; and 
 

WHEREAS, the monthly invoices will describe in reasonable detail the dates on which 
Ms. Ashley worked, the number of hours worked on each date, and a description of the work 
performed on each date; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney will submit the monthly invoices for payment 
promptly upon receipt, with the expectation that the invoices will be paid within 15 (fifteen) to 45 
(forty-five) days of receipt; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ms. Ashley will provide the Office of the City Attorney with a current 
mailing address, email address, and phone number; and 
 

WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by authorizing the 
Mayor of the City of Jackson to execute a contract with Frances Ashley for the purposes and on 
the terms described in this Order. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute a 
contract with Frances Ashley to provide clerical, secretarial, and other administrative duties for 
the Civil Service Commission as directed by the Civil Service Commission, beginning in June, 
2024. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $10,032.00 may be paid to Frances 
Ashley for the first twelve months of this contract. 

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF FULL AND FINAL SETTLEMENT 
OF ALL CLAIMS AGAINST THE CITY OF JACKSON IN THE MATTER OF 
“ROGER AND LINDA SUE FULLER ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL 
DEATH HEIRS OF STEVIE K. FULLER V. CITY OF JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI” IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, 
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT; CIVIL ACTION NO.: 18-257-EFP.  
 

  WHEREAS, on October 8, 2018, Roger and Linda Sue Fuller filed a Complaint in the 
Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District against the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi alleging negligence relative to a fatal motor vehicle collision that occurred on May 9, 
2017; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the parties, through counsel, participated in settlement negotiations and 
reached a proposed agreement to settle the aforementioned lawsuit; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney is recommending the City of Jackson fully 
and finally resolve the aforementioned lawsuit for $160,000.00 in return for a complete release of 
the City of Jackson, Mississippi from the lawsuit; and 
 

WHEREAS, such settlement shall not constitute an admission of liability on the part of 
the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and, 
 
            WHEREAS, based on the economic value to the City of Jackson and without admitting 
any liability, it is in the best interest of the citizenry that the City of Jackson resolve this matter 
through settlement. 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           387 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

            NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the City Council of the City of 
Jackson, Mississippi, that the City should and is hereby authorized to settle all claims for 
$160,000.00 in the lawsuit styled Roger and Linda Sue Fuller on Behalf of the Wrongful Death 
Heirs of Stevie J. Fuller v. City of Jackson, Mississippi; In the Hinds County Circuit Court, First 
Judicial District; Cause No.: 18-257-EFP; execute all documents necessary to settle and dismiss 
said claim; and pay the settlement amount, to the Plaintiffs and their Counsel, as full and final 
settlement of this matter. 
 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks recognized Sheridan Carr, Special Assistant to the City Attorney, who 
provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item:   
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN 
SUPPORT OF THE 61ST ANNIVERSARY OBSERVANCE OF THE MEDGAR 
WILEY EVERS HOMECOMING.  

 
WHEREAS, the Medgar Wiley Evers Homecoming activities will recognize the sixty-first 

anniversary of the assassination of Mr. Medgar Wiley Evers which occurred in Jackson, 
Mississippi on June 12, 1963; and 
 

WHEREAS, Medgar Evers was field secretary for the NAACP in Mississippi, a civil 
rights advocate, and a trailblazer for voting rights and humanitarian efforts on behalf of poor and 
disenfranchised Mississippians; and 
 

WHEREAS, the entire nation and world join the City of Jackson in recognizing and 
supporting the 61st Anniversary Observance of the Homecoming of native-born Mississippian, Mr. 
Medgar Wiley Evers. 
   

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the City of Jackson is hereby 
authorized to support and join the 61st Anniversary Observance of the Medgar Wiley Evers 
Homecoming. 

 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 
HONORING, RECOGNIZING AND SUPPORTING THE ANNUAL 
JUNETEENTH FREEDOM AND UNITY CULTURAL CELEBRATION.  
 

WHEREAS, June 19th is a day recognized in the United States of America and across the 
world as JUNETEENTH; and 
 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth has evolved into an African American cultural celebration that 
originated in the State of Texas because of the confusion and turmoil following the end of the Civil 
War; those in Texas affected by the Emancipation Proclamation of 1863 did not learn of the 1865 
surrender of Robert E. Lee to Ulysses Grant in Virginia; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           388 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, Major General Gordon Granger of the Union Army landed in Galveston, 
Texas with 1,800 soldiers to take command of the military District of Texas; his first action after 
landing on June 19, 1865 was to go from his headquarters in the Osterman Building at the corner 
of Strand and 22nd to read General Order #3 to the people of Galveston: “The people of Texas are 
informed … all slaves are free.  This involves an absolute equality of personal rights of property 
between former master and slaves…;” and 
 

WHEREAS, the stunning news began that day as a holiday of celebration, first established 
in Texas; in 1980, the Texas State Legislature declared JUNETEENTH, June 19th, a state holiday; 
thus began the tradition of prayer services, games, rodeos, dances, special food preparations and 
historical presentations related to this celebration- - much like the Fourth of July; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi celebrates with the world, in honoring the 
African American cultural celebration of unity and freedom, known throughout the land as 
JUNETEENTH, traditionally celebrated June 19th of each year. Juneteenth became a federal 
holiday on June 17, 2021 in all 50 states and the   District of Columbia. 
         

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, 
highly honors and recognizes the annual Juneteenth Freedom and Unity Cultural Celebration. 

 
 Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 
RECOGNIZING AND SUPPORTING THE CELEBRATION OF FATHER’S 
DAY, 2024 ON ITS 100TH YEAR.  
 

WHEREAS, the idea of celebrating Father's Day grew from the thoughts of Sonora Dodd, 
a loving daughter from Spokane, whose father, Henry Jackson Smart, single-handedly raised her 
and five of her siblings following the death of their mother; upon attending a Mother’s Day Sermon 
in 1909, she felt that there should be a corresponding day to honor fathers; she worked relentlessly 
for years to bring Father’s Day to fruition; and 
 

WHEREAS, the celebration of Father’s Day was begun in 1924 during the administration 
of former President Calvin Coolidge in order to establish a stronger bond between fathers and 
children; the idea gained momentum during WWII; President Lyndon B. Johnson proclaimed the 
third Sunday of June to be Father’s Day in 1966, with President Richard Nixon establishing a 
permanent national observance of Father's Day in 1972; and 
 

WHEREAS, according to census data, there are more than 72.2 million fathers in the U.S.; 
more than 2 million are single fathers; and 

 
WHEREAS, observance of Father's Day provides children the opportunity to express 

love and respect for their fathers; this act is vital to strengthening the father-child relationship 
and consequently in the emotional development of a child; as we confirm the important role of 
fathers in nurturing children and building a stronger society, the entire nation and world join the 
City of Jackson in recognizing and supporting the observance of Father’s Day. 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi hereby recognizes and supports the observance of Father’s Day, 2024, as we wish for 
each father a Happy Father’s Day. 

 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 6:00 P.M.                           389 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

There came on for Discussion Item No. 48: 

DISCUSSION: POTHOLE REPAIR PROGRAM: President Banks stated said 
discussion would be tabled until a later date at the request of Council Member Hartley.  

                                   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

DISCUSSION: CONVENTION CENTER RFQ: President Banks recognized 
Council Member Foote who requested an update on the RFQ for the Convention Center. 
President Banks recognized Jhai Keeton, Interim Director of Planning and 
Development, who stated the Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) went out April 16 and 
several responses were being vetted at this time and then an RFQ would be issued.  

                                   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

DISCUSSION: PRECINCT 1: President Banks stated Precinct 1 was of dire need of 
some repairs and requested information on how and when those repairs could take place. 
President Banks recognized Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor who stated the 
Administration was going to address those repairs soon with funds from the Siemens’ 
settlement.  

                                   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING 
TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 
President Banks stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial 
report for review. 

                                   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The meeting was closed in memory of the following individuals: 
 

• In Memory of Jerome Brown 
• In Memory of Franklin Hood III 
• In Memory of Scarlet B. Thomas 
• In Memory Jonas Lee Pippens 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

• Council Member Hartley announced the following:  
 Happy Father’s Day to all fathers.  

 
                                     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the Regular Zoning Meeting at 2:30 p.m. on June 17, 2024.  At 8:20 p.m., the Council 
stood adjourned.   
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 

                                                               ____________     

      MAYOR 
 

 

      ATTEST:  
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              390 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on June 17, 2024, 
being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and done to 
wit: 

 
 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, 
Ward 1; Brian Grizzell, Ward and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7 (via 
teleconference). Directors: Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council; 
Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council; Ester Ainsworth, Zoning 
Administrator and Carrie Johnson, Deputy City Attorney. 

 
 Absent:    Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3 and Vernon Hartley, Ward 5. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
   
The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 
  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  
 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4246, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER GRANTING BRANDI CARTER A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO 
ALLOW FOR THE OPERATION OF A LIQUOR STORE IN A NEIGHBORHOOD 
SHOPPING CENTER AND NOT IN COMBINATION WITH A CONVENIENCE 
TYPE GROCERY STORE OR SERVICE STATION WITHIN A C-2 (LIMITED) 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT IN STE 102 A OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 
4465 I-55 NORTH (PARCEL: 437-298) CASE NO. 4246 

 
            WHEREAS, Brandi Carter has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a liquor store 
in a neighborhood shopping center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery store 
or service station within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District in Ste A of the property located at 
4465 I-55 North (Parcel: 437-298) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has recommended approval of a Use Permit to allow for a liquor store in a neighborhood shopping 
center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery store or service station within a C-
2 (Limited) Commercial District in Ste 102 A of the property located at 4465 I-55 North (Parcel: 
437-298); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, April 15, 2024 
to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson City 
Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on  March 7, 2024 and March 21, 2024 that a 
hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on March 27, 2024, all as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of the petitioned Use Permit within the existing 
C-2 (Limited) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that the proposed use would be compatible with the character of development in the 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              391 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

vicinity relative to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses and that a Use 
Permit be granted to allow for a liquor store in a neighborhood shopping center not in combination 
with a convenience type grocery store or service station within the existing C-2 (Limited) 
Commercial District of the City of Jackson.  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 702.05.02 (14) of the City of Jackson Zoning Ordinance, 
use permits for liquor stores are issued to the owner of the liquor store rather than to the owner of 
the land; do not run with the land but will allow the store to remain at a specific location until such 
time as the ownership of the liquor store changes; and subsequent owners of a liquor store at this 
location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Part of Lots 7 and 8 and part of closed Spruce Street of J.O. Trawick Estate Subdivision the 
map or plat of which is recorded in the office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County at 
Jackson, Mississippi, in Plat Book 5, at Page 9, being situated in Section 24, Township 6 North, 
range 1 East, Hinds County and described as follows: 

Begin at an iron pin marking the intersection of. the South line of Spruce Street with the East 
line of St. Richards Drive; from said point of beginning run thence I South 89 degrees 56 
minutes 24 seconds East along the South line of Spruce Street, a distance of 25.49 feet to an 
iron pin on the North  line of Lot 8 of J.O. Trawick Estate Subdivision the map or plat of which 
is recorded in the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County, at Jackson,  Mississippi in 
Plat Book 5, at Page 9; thence North  89 degrees 27 minutes  23 seconds East along the South 
line of said Spruce Street, a distance of 139.21 feet; thence North O degrees 05 minutes 33 
seconds West, a distance of 24.82 feet to the center of a closed section of said Spruce Street; 
thence North 89 degrees 38 minutes 39 seconds East along the center of said closed section of 
Spruce Street, a distance of 204.06 feet to the  present Westerly right-of-way line of Interstate 
Highway No. 55; thence Southerly along said Interstate Highway right-of- way line as follows: 
Southerly along an arc to the right having a radius of 3793.72 feet, a distance of 25.31 feet, 
said arc has a chord of South 9 degrees 54 minutes 15 seconds West, a distance of 25.31 feet l 
thence South 89 degrees 34  minutes 51 seconds West, a distance of 9.15 feet; thence Southerly  
along an arc to the right having a radius of 3784.72 feet, a distance of 57.08 feet, said arc has 
a chord of south 10 degrees 33 minutes 10 seconds West, a distance of 57.08 feet; thence South 
50 degree 07 minutes 03 seconds East, a distance of 10.28 feet; thence Southerly along an arc 
to the right having a radius of 3793.72 feet, a distance of 146.6 feet, said arc has a chord of 
South 12 degrees 10 minutes 01 seconds West, a distance of 146.59 feet: thence Southerly 
along an arc to the right having a radius of 7613.44 feet, a distance of 76.78 feet, said arc has 
a chord of South 13 degrees 33 minutes 46 seconds West, a distance of 76.78 feet to the 
Northeasterly line of the Christ Lutheran Church property; thence North 56 degrees 24 minutes 
West along the Northeasterly line of the Christ Lutheran Church property, a distance of 416.56 
feet to the Easterly line of St. Richards Drive; thence North 42 degrees 10 minutes East along 
the  Easterly line of St. Richards Drive, a distance of 64.4 feet to the point of beginning, 
containing 69,294 square feet or 1.5908 acres; more or less. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a liquor store in 
a neighborhood shopping center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery store or 
service station in Ste A of the property located at 4465 I-55 North (Parcel: 437-298) within a C-2 
(Limited) Commercial District.   The Use Permit shall be issued to the owner of the liquor store 
rather than to the owner of the land; shall not run with the land but will allow the store to remain 
at a specific location until such time as the ownership of the liquor store changes; and subsequent 
owners of a liquor store at this location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit,  will be 
granted on an annual basis and  remain in compliance with adopted Property Maintenance, 
Building, Fire, Law Enforcement  and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  However, that 
before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, 
the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              392 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 
        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Banks recognized Doug Price, the Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Use Permit to 
allow for a liquor store within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lee. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Note:  Council Member Lindsay left the meeting during the discussion via teleconference. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4255, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDINANCE GRANTING ROWANOAK DEVELOPMENT, LLC A REZONING 
FROM C80-C2 (LIMITED) COMMERCIAL SUBDISTRICT TO C80-R4 
(LIMITED) MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL SUBDISTRICT FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT PARCEL #820-955 ON HIGHWAY 80 WEST TO 
ALLOW FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A MULTI-FAMILY APARTMENT 
COMPLEX.  CASE NO. 4255. 
 

WHEREAS, Rowanoak Development, LLC has filed a petition to rezone the property 
located at Parcel #820-955 on Highway 80 W., in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of 
Hinds County, Mississippi from C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict to C80-R4 (Limited) 
Multi-Family Residential Subdistrict to allow for the construction of a multi-family apartment 
complex; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has offered the recommendation to rezone the property from C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial 
Subdistrict to C80-R4 (Limited) Multi-Family Residential Subdistrict to allow for the construction 
of a multi-family apartment complex; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, June 17, 2024 
to consider said change based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson City 
Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on May 2, 2024 and May 16, 2024 that a 
hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on May 22, 2024, all as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board has offered the recommendation to rezone the above described property from 
C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict to C80-R4 (Limited) Multi-Family Residential 
Subdistrict to allow for the construction of a multi-family apartment complex; and 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              393 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council after having considered the matter, is of the opinion 
that such changes would be in keeping with sound land use practice and to the best interest of the 
City and that there has been a substantial change in the land use character of the surrounding area 
that justifies rezoning the property and there is a public need for additional property in that area 
zoned in accordance with the request in said application since any previous Jackson City Council 
action.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

SECTION 1.   That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds 
County, Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 

A certain lot or parcel of land in the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter (NW ¼ of SE¼) 
of Section 34, Township 6 North, Range I West, Hinds County, Mississippi, more particularly 
described by metes and bounds as follows, to wit: 

Beginning at a point on the South right-of-way line of U.S. Highway No. 80 where said right-of-
way line is intersected by the West line of the SE ¼ of Section 34, Township 6 North, Range I 
West, Hinds County, Mississippi, which point is 16 feet, more or less, South of the center of said 
Section 34; run thence South 60 degrees 45 minutes East along the South right-of-way line of U.S. 
Highway No. 90 parallel with and 100 feet measured at right angles from the center line of said 
U.S. Highway No. 80 for a distance of 660 feet; run thence South 567 feet to the North line of a 
public road; thence traversing said road, North 79 degrees West 484 feet; thence North 71 degrees 
30 minutes West 107.5 feet to the West Line of the SE ¼ of Section 34; run thence North along 
the West line of the SE ¼ of said Section 34 for a distance of 763 feet to the point of beginning. 

And being the same property described in instrument recorded in Book 7228 at Page 4295. 

is hereby modified so as to approve the rezoning of the of the property located at Parcel #820-955 
on Highway 80 W.  from C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict to C80-R4 (Limited) Multi-
Family Residential Subdistrict to allow for the construction of a multi-family apartment complex. 
However, that before for any structure is erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant 
must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process.  The Zoning 
Administrator is ordered to note such change on the Official Zoning Map to the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi. 

SECTION 2.  That the cost of publication of this Ordinance shall be borne by the petitioner.  

SECTION 3.  That this Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after its passage and after 
publication of same by the petitioner.   

 
Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  
 

There was no opposition from the public. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lee. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 
PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              394 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 
renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 
as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE GRANTED 

  C– UP 3974 

Ward 7 
Trey Hester & Brez, 

LLC 
839 S. State St. 

 

Community 
Recreational Facility 

(Escape Room) 
06/19/17 

  SE – 4054 

     Ward 7 
JCD Urban 

Development 
2034 W. McDowell Rd. 

 
Recreational 

Community Facility 
06/17/19 

 

  C–UP 4057 

     Ward 7 

John B. Stanton, 
o/b/h of Jackon 

Brew, LLC  

3100 Old Canton Road 

 
Drive thru window for 

a coffee shop 
06/17/19 

 

   C–UP 4128 

     Ward 2 
Offtop Autoplex, 

LLC 
5502 North State St. 

 
Used Car Lot 

06/21/21 

 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 
Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 
and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

President Banks moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lee.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the next Special Council Meeting to be held at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, June 17, 2024. 
At 2:54 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 
 
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST: 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 6:00 P.M.                   395 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z  
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Public Hearing/Special Meeting of the City Council of 
Jackson, Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having 
been placed by the Clerk of Council at 12:25 p.m. on Wednesday, June 12, 2024 in the Clerk of 
Council’s Office, electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the 
public bulletin board in City Hall, relative to: (1) DISCUSSION:  Redistricting. The meeting was 
convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, June 
17, 2024 being the third Monday of said month, when and where the following things were had 
and done to wit: 

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Ward 6, Council President; Angelique 
Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2 Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; 
Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Safiya 
Omari, Chief of Staff; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina Shelby, 
Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin, City Attorney. 

 
 Absent:   Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks introduced the following individuals during the meeting:  

• In Memory of Lewis Ratliff  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The following individuals provided public comments during the meeting: 
 

• Katie Coates who expressed concerns about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Fran Bridges who expressed concerns about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Danielle Holmes who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Graftie McDaniels who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Okolo Rashid who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Frank Figgers who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Amir Badat who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Georgia Cohran who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  
• Tariq Abdul-Tawwab who expressed about Redistricting in the City of Jackson.  

 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks suggested a 10-minute recess which would allow the citizens time to 
review maps for redistricting.  However, the citizens requested a delay in the process to 
obtain a better understanding of the process.  President Banks informed citizens that the 
Municipal Clerk needed time to inform citizens of changes for voting purposes.  President 
Banks also stated that he would contact CMPDD to see if shape files for the proposed 
maps of redistricting is available to the council and citizens. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on June 18, 2024.  At 7:33 p.m., the 
Council stood adjourned.   
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2024 6:00 P.M.                   396 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z  
 

  
       

                                                                                                           ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 
  
             _______________________________        
                                                                        CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 





















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































ORDER APPROVING THE PROCUREMENT OF FIVE (S) MICROSOFT 

365 GS SOFrW ARE LICENSES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 
EXECUTE THE QUOTE DOCUMENT FURNISHED BY METRIX 

SOLUTIONS AT AN ANNUAL COST OF $3,420.00 

WHEREAS, Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi Code authorizes governing 
authorities to purchase goods which do not involve an expenditure of more than $5,000.00 
without advertising or requesting competitive bids; and 

WHEREAS, the Department oflnformation Technology has detennined that 
software known as Microsoft 365 G5 is necessary for the municipality's operations; and 

WHEREAS, Metrix Solutions located at 190 East Capitol Street, Ste 175, 
Jackson, Mississippi is a Partner or company authorized to distribute Microsoft Products 
submitted Quote# 063360 to the Department oflnformation Technology; and 

WHEREAS, Quote# 063360 of Metrix Solutions contained a pricing term of 
$3,420.00 annually for five (5) software licenses ($684.00 annually per license); and 

WHEREAS, the following general terms apply to Microsoft Products when an
order is accepted: 

(a) The Customer is granted a nonexclusive and limited license to use the products
ordered as provided in the applicable Use Rights and the agreement;

( b) The license is granted on a subscription basis and expires at the end of the
applicable subscription period unless renewed;

( c) For subscriptions, the Use Rights in effect at the start of each subscription
period will apply. Customers with subscriptions for software may use new
versions released during the subscription period subject to the Use Rights in effect
when the versions are released. Microsoft may update the Use Rights periodically,
but materially adverse changes for a particular version will not apply during the
applicable license, subscription billing period;

( d) Customer will control access to and use of the product by End Users and is
responsible for any use of the products that does not comply with the agreement.

( e) Products are protected by copyright and other intellectual property laws and
international treaties. Rights to access or use a product on a device will not give
the Customer the right to implement patents or other intellectual property on the
device itself or in any other software or devices.

(f) Customer is prohibited from: (1) reverse engineering, decompiling, or
disassembling any product or attempting to do so; (2) installing or using non
Microsoft software or technology in any way that would subject Microsoft's
intellectual property or technology to other license terms; (3) working around
technical limitations in a product or restrictions in product documentation; (4)
upgrading or downgrading parts of a product at different times; ( 5) distributing,
sublicensing, renting, leasing or lending any products, in whole or in part, or using
them to offer hosting services to a third party.
(g) Microsoft may verify Customer's compliance with the agreement at any time

i 
\ 

I 

"T1 
'Tl 

� 
-i 
J: 

� 
� 
-I

_,, ,,__ 
f"1 
-< 

Agenda Item #17

7.2.2024


















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	Agenda_2024_7_2_Meeting(527) (4)
	JULY 2 CLAIMS
	JULY 2 PAYROLL
	7_2
	27 to end



